
South Cambridgeshire District Council, South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridge CB23 6EA 

Tel: 03450 450 500 Fax: 01954 713149 
Democratic Services Contact Officer: Claire Dillon ext 3026 03450 450 500 

  
1 February 2011 
 
To: Board Members of the South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Partnership 
Rick Hylton (Chairman), Darcy Weaver (Vice-Chairman), Vickie Crompton, Paul 
Howes, Tom Jefford, County Councillor David Jenkins, District Councillor Ray 
Manning, County Councillor Linda Oliver, County Councillor John Reynolds, and 
Chief Inspector David Sargent.. 

 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
You are invited to attend the next meeting of SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE CRIME AND 
DISORDER REDUCTION PARTNERSHIP, which will be held in the SWANSLEY ROOM, 
GROUND FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, 
Cambridge, CB23 6EA on TUESDAY, 1 FEBRUARY 2011 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
Yours faithfully 
CLAIRE DILLON EXT 3026 
Democratic Services Officer, South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
 
If you have any specific needs in relation to access to the agenda, for 
example large print, please let us know, and we will do what we can 

to help you. 
 
 

AGENDA 
PAGES 

1. Introductions and Apologies   
 Apologies have been received from Helen Turner and Dave Sargent   
   
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  1 - 6 
 
4. Review of Integrated Offender Management  7 - 52 
 
5. Note Q3 Performance Report, and identify necessary actions  53 - 76 
 
6. Update on 2010-11 Funding  77 - 80 



 
7. Funding April 2011 onwards - verbal update   
 
8. Agree South Cambs CDRP Community Safety Plan 2011-2014  81 - 112 
 
9. Confidence in Police and Local Councils  113 - 

116 
 
10. Update from Road Safety Partnership   
 
11. Forthcoming consultations   
 
12. Date of Next meeting - 26 April 2011   
 

 
OUR VISION 

• We will make South Cambridgeshire a safe and healthy place where residents are 
proud to live and where there will be opportunities for employment, enterprise and 
world-leading innovation. 

• We will be a listening Council, providing a voice for rural life and first-class services 
accessible to all. 

 
OUR VALUES 

We will demonstrate our corporate values in all our actions. These are: 
• Trust 
• Mutual respect 
• A commitment to improving services 
• Customer service 
   
 
  



 GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL 
 While the District Council endeavours to ensure that visitors come to no harm when visiting South 

Cambridgeshire Hall, those visitors also have a responsibility to make sure that they do not risk their own 
or others’ safety. 
 
Security 
Members of the public attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices must report to 
Reception, sign in, and at all times wear the Visitor badges issued.  Before leaving the building, such 
visitors must sign out and return their Visitor badges to Reception. 
 
Emergency and Evacuation 
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound.  Evacuate the building using the nearest escape 
route; from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside 
the door.  Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park. 
• Do not use the lifts to exit the building.  If you are unable to negotiate stairs by yourself, the 

emergency staircase landings are provided with fire refuge areas, which afford protection for a 
minimum of 1.5 hours.  Press the alarm button and wait for assistance from the Council fire 
wardens or the fire brigade. 

• Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to 
do so. 

 
First Aid 
If someone feels unwell or needs first aid, please alert a member of staff. 
 
Access for People with Disabilities 
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to its agendas and 
minutes. We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us 
know, and we will do what we can to help you.  All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.  
There are disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building.  Infra-red hearing assistance systems are 
available in the Council Chamber and viewing gallery. To use these, you must sit in sight of the infra-red 
transmitter and wear a ‘neck loop’, which can be used with a hearing aid switched to the ‘T’ position.  If 
your hearing aid does not have the ‘T’ position facility then earphones are also available and can be used 
independently. You can obtain both neck loops and earphones from Reception. 
 
Toilets 
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts. 
 
Recording of Business 
Unless specifically authorised by resolution, no audio and / or visual or photographic recording in any 
format is allowed at any meeting of the Council, the executive (Cabinet), or any committee, sub-committee 
or other sub-group of the Council or the executive. 
 
Banners, Placards and similar items 
No member of the public shall be allowed to bring into or display at any Council meeting any banner, 
placard, poster or other similar item. The Chairman may require any such item to be removed. 
 
Disturbance by Public 
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person concerned.  If they 
continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room.  If there is a general 
disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be 
cleared. 
 
Smoking 
Since 1 July 2008, the Council has operated a new Smoke Free Policy. Visitors are not allowed to smoke 
at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of those offices. 
 
Food and Drink 
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the 
building.  Visitors are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room. 
 
Mobile Phones 
Visitors are asked to make sure that their phones and other mobile devices are set on silent / vibrate 
mode during meetings or are switched off altogether. 

   



This page is left blank intentionally.



 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION PARTNERSHIP  
 

Minutes of the meeting held on Monday, 25 
October 2010 at 10.00 a.m. 

 
 
PRESENT: Julian Fountain, Lead Officer, Cambridgeshire Fire and 

Rescue Service 
 Laura Hutson Lead Officer, Drugs and Alcohol Action Team 
 Rick Hylton Assistant Director of Community Safety, 

Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service  
 County Councillor 

David Jenkins 
Lead Member, Cambridgeshire County 
Council 

 District Councillor 
Ray Manning 

Lead Member, South Cambs District Council 
 County Councillor 

Linda Oliver 
Lead Member, Cambridgeshire Fire Authity 

 County Councillor 
John Reynolds 

Lead Member, Police Authority 
 Darci Weaver Lead Officer, Cambridgeshire NHS 
 
 Gemma Barron Partnerships Manager 
 Bridget Fairley Partnership Support Officer 
 Jenny Massie Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
 Louise Meats Drugs and Alcohol Action Team 
 Phil Rennie Road Safety 
 Inspector Chris Savage Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
 Ian Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 Mike Soper Cambridgeshire County Council  
 

 Action 
61. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (SUPPORT OFFICER)  
  
 The Partnerships Manager invited nominations for the position of 

Chairman of the South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnership. 
 
Councillor Linda Oliver nominated Rick Hylton as Chairman of the South 
Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership.  This 
nomination was seconded by Councillor John Reynolds and, there being 
no other nominations, it was 
 
RESOLVED that Rick Hylton be elected Chairman of the South 

Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
for the year to October 2011. 

 
Rick Hylton took the Chair and thanked Board members for their 
continued support. 

 

   
62. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN (CHAIRMAN)  
  
 Rick Hylton nominated Darcy Weaver as Vice-Chairman of the South 

Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership.  This 
nomination was seconded by Councillor Ray Manning and, there being no 
other nominations, it was 

 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership Monday, 25 October 2010 

 

 
RESOLVED that Darcy Weaver be appointed Vice-Chairman of the 

South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnership for the year to October 2011. 

   
63. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS (CHAIRMAN)  
  
 Those present introduced themselves for the benefit of new attendees.  
   
64. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
  
 Philip Aldis, Paul Howes, Tom Jefford, Pat Mungroo, Chief Inspector 

Dave Sargent, Helen Turner and Hannah Waghorn sent their apologies 
for absence.  

 

   
65. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (CHAIRMAN / ALL)  
  
 County Councillor David Jenkins declared a personal interest as his son 

is a police officer.  
 

   
66. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING AND MATTERS ARISING 

(CHAIRMAN / ALL) 
 

  
 The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership accepted the minutes of 

the meeting held on 26 July 2010 as a correct record.   
 
Minute 50 (Minutes of previous meeting) 
With reference to Minute 44 (Road Safety Partnership) of the meeting 
held on 26 April 2010, the Chairman welcomed Phil Rennie to the 
meeting.  Mr Rennie confirmed that, for the time being, he would attend 
future meetings on behalf of the Road Safety Partnership. 
 
Minute 54 (Review of Safer and Stronger Communities Fund) 
The Chairman reported Helen Turner’s confirmation that the Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership could convert the remaining capital into 
revenue funding. 
 
Minute 56 (Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting) 
This item would be referred to later on during the meeting, but Councillor 
Ray Manning conveyed the Scrutiny and Overview Committee’s 
appreciation of the Chairman’s attendance at, and contribution to, the 
meeting on 2 September 2010. 

 

   
67. STRATEGIC ASSESSMENT (MICHAEL SOPER)  
  
 Those present considered the South Cambridgeshire Community Safety 

Partnership (Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership) Strategic 
Assessment 2010.  The headline findings were that 
• Crime had decreased in South Cambridgeshire by 15.9% in the last 

year.  
• Most types of crime had seen a decrease in quantity  
• There was a rising concern around rural crime in the district  
 
They took part in an exercise the purpose of which was to categorise a 
number of specific comments received from the public during the 

 

Page 2



South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership Monday, 25 October 2010 

 

consultation stage, which had now concluded.  The outcome revealed 
some interesting differences between the priorities identified by the Crime 
and Disorder Reduction Partnership on the one hand, and public 
perception and the “fears” expressed by South Cambridgeshire families 
on the other.  Even within defined areas such as Anti-Social Behaviour, 
an analysis of public comments received highlighted differences between 
a professional understanding of the term ‘Anti-Social Behaviour’ and the 
public perception.  The public’s fear of burglary seemed to be lower than 
the actual incidence of the crime might otherwise have created.     
 
The ensuing discussion focussed on, among other things: 
• Burglary (including from farms) 
• Affordability 
• Places 
• Process 
• Priorities 
 
The Chairman acknowledged the significance of the Strategic 
Assessment and highlighted the need to balance the demands of the 
various emerging priorities.   
 
Councillor Linda Oliver said that those present and partner organisations 
should constantly remind themselves about circumstances as perceived 
by the general public, and continue to tackle those areas of most concern, 
such as theft from farms, domestic violence and anti-social behaviour.   
Councillor David Jenkins stressed the importance of recognising public 
perception, and Inspector Chris Savage observed that one of the issues 
perceived by residents as a major concern, though not hitherto 
considered a priority by the CDRP, was that of road safety.   
 
With specific reference to rural crime, Councillor John Reynolds 
suggested that the authorities should concentrate on prevention rather 
than detection, instilling confidence within local communities by identifying 
known troublemakers.  Inspector Savage described rural crime as 
representing a huge challenge for Cambridgeshire Constabulary. 
 
The Chairman suggested to those present that the 2010-11 priorities for 
the South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
should be as follows: 
• Farm crime 
• Repeat victims of Anti-Social Behaviour 
• Burglary 
• Road Safety 
 
Councillor Oliver asked whether domestic violence should not also be a 
priority given that current economic pressures could have a negative 
impact on family life.  The Chairman acknowledged the validity of the 
point, but said that a better solution would be to concentrate on 
developing a countywide approach to domestic violence.  On a similar 
basis, Councillor Oliver suggested that farm security issues might be 
tackled more effectively were the South Cambridgeshire Crime and 
Disorder Reduction Partnership to work collaboratively with Community 
Safety Partnerships in neighbouring counties. 

   

Page 3



South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership Monday, 25 October 2010 

 

68. QUARTERLY UPDATES (TASK GROUP LEADERS)  
  
 The South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 

considered Quarterly updates from Task Group Leaders and agreed that 
• the Scoring process used to apply for funding from the SSCF Board 

does not take into account the merits of each application. 
• Cambridgeshire County Council,should be lobbied for support and 

funding for domestic abuse projects 
• CDRPs / Community Safety Partnerships support the Making 

Cambridgeshire Count and Safer/Stronger agenda 

 

   
69. UPDATE ON 2010-11 FUNDING (BRIDGET FAIRLEY)  
  
 The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership received a report about 

progress with 2010-11 funding as at the end of the second Quarter. 
 
The Partnership Support Officer reported that Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary had now agreed to contribute £4,500.00 to the pooled fund. 

 

   
70. CLOSER WORKING WITH CAMBRIDGE COMMUNITY SAFETY 

PARTNERSHIP (CLLR MANNING) 
 

  
 The South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 

received a report setting out the advantages and disadvantages of closer 
working with the Cambridge Community Safety Partnership. 
 
Councillor Ray Manning highlighted paragraph 7 of the report but said 
that, at the moment, he had certain reservations about closer working 
because of uncertainties with funding. 
 
The issue of closer working with Cambridge Community Safety 
Partnership was deferred. 

 

   
71. SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL SCRUTINY AND 

OVERVIEW COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS (BRIDGET FAIRLEY) 
 

  
 The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership received a report about 

the recommendations made at the South Cambridgeshire District Council 
Scrutiny and Overview Committee meeting on Thursday 2 September 
2010. 
 
Mike Soper would present the Strategic Assessment to a countywide 
Community Safety Partnership meeting. 

 

   
72. UPDATE FROM ROAD SAFETY PARTNERSHIP (PHIL RENNIE)  
  
 Phil Rennie presented a report on Road Safety issues in South 

Cambridgeshire.   
 
The Road Safety Partnership had identified the following as priorities: 
• Speeding 
• Drink driving 
• Migrant drivers 
• Young drivers 

 

Page 4



South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership Monday, 25 October 2010 

 

 
Those present discussed the merits or otherwise of average speed 
cameras. 
 
Mike Soper cautioned against confusing “clusters” with “randomness”. 

   
73. FORTHCOMING CONSULTATIONS (CHAIRMAN / ALL)  
  
 Those present noted a forthcoming consultation on the Sustainable 

Communities Strategy to be conducted by the Local Strategic 
Partnership. The chairman asked partners to use this item in the future to 
share information on actions being taken by individual organisations to 
respond to the outcome of the Comprehensive Spending Review in order 
that a full appreciation of the impact could be ascertained. 

 

   
74. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
  
 Councillor Linda Oliver asked that Members received formal electronic 

invitations in future. 
 

   
75. PROPOSED SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS FOR 2011 (CHAIRMAN / ALL)  
  
 Those present noted that 2010-11 meetings had been scheduled as 

follows: 
• Tuesday 1 February 2011 
• Tuesday 26 April 2011 
• Tuesday 26 July 2011 
• Tuesday 1 November 2011 (not as previewed on the agenda) 
  
Each meeting would start at 10.00am in the Swansley Room, South 
Cambs Hall, Cambourne Business Park, Cambourne, Cambridge, CB23 
6EA. 
 
Councillor Linda Oliver asked that dates of meetings for 2010-11 be 
checked so as to avoid clashes with Cambridgeshire County Full Council 
meetings. 

 

   
  

The meeting ended at 12.55 p.m. 
 

 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is left blank intentionally.



!

!

Safer and Stronger Communities
Scrutiny Committee 

Integrated Offender Management 

Member-led Review

Agenda Item 4Page 7



1

!

A Review of Integrated Offender Management in Cambridgeshire 

E
!

XECUTIVE SUMMARY

a. This review of Integrated Offender Management in Cambridgeshire has proved 
particularly timely. 

b. Unlike most scrutiny reviews, it has been less about looking at what is already in 
place to see whether it works, than about observing a process in the early stages of 
change.

c. The grandiose talk 12 months ago about how Integrated Offender Management 
(IOM) would ensure offenders had a single point of contact with the interventionist 
agencies of the state has been replaced by the language and practice of pragmatic 
organic change. This is welcome. 

d. Less welcome has been the slowness of IOM development. We can confidently 
blame the Home Office and the General Election for this. But we do acknowledge 
that IOM in Cambridgeshire is now being developed in the right direction and we 
unreservedly want it to succeed. 

e. This review has, however, uncovered some practices that should be encouraged 
further and others that should be changed at the earliest opportunity. We believe that 
there is considerable scope for significant reductions in reoffending rates if our 
recommendations can be followed, and have largely tried to avoid solutions that 
would require significant increases in public expenditure. 

f. Indeed, it has been clear in conducting this review that significant long-term savings 
might be made specifically in the prisons budget if offenders are dealt with differently 
so that they do not end up re-incarcerated. The challenge for the state is to break out 
of government funding silos so that investment in rehabilitation can be found despite 
the savings being to a department other than that undertaking the rehabilitative work, 
and arising not immediately, but in years to come. 

g. Throughout the review, we have been struck by how the level of integration between 
agencies needs to be so much more than ‘partnership’. 

h. From the time when a prisoner’s release date is determined and his/her post-release 
needs are assessed, through release itself and the first hours and days post-prison 
through to longer term education and employment, the agencies involved need to co-
ordinate their activity to an unprecedented level, often acting as if they were one. 

i. Our review has not answered the question of by whom case management should be 
led. Instead, we argue that the case management system must include not only 
police and probation but the prison service and the mental health system. 

j. When so much reoffending takes place in the days immediately after release it is vital 
that the prison service integrates better with other agencies to ensure that attempts 

Page 8



2

!

to meet the post-release needs of an offender are well underway before release 
itself.

k. Just as importantly, when upwards of 50% of offenders have mental health needs it 
is simply not acceptable that mental health care is provided so rarely and that 
existing systems for getting care are so poor. 

l. Less easy to solve is the chronic shortage of housing, but the review notes that as 
offenders can tend to be problem tenants, the shortage of housing enables landlords 
to cherry pick tenants to the detriment of ex-offenders.  

m. The review has however found a number of simple changes that might be made, 
including the idea that prisoners released unexpectedly should not be released on a 
Friday, when agencies can find it particularly difficult to provide housing in time to 
stop an offender falling back into old friendships and old ways before the first 
weekend is out. 

n. Throughout the review, we have been consistently impressed by the state-funded 
voluntary sector projects we have encountered. They have shown vigour and energy 
and, unusually, have shown a commitment to finding and providing the evidence of 
their impact upon reoffending rates. 

o. In the state sector, things have been patchy. Everyone seems to be working hard, 
but some people and organisations seem tired and unable or unwilling to evaluate 
the real impacts of their actions. 

p. The review group however has avoided drawing ideological conclusions from this 
other than to welcome the energy of the new organisations from the not-for-profit 
sector.

q. The recommendations of this review should be read by a wide range of agencies 
from the Home Office and Ministry of Justice to Cambridgeshire Constabulary, 
Probation, Health and voluntary sector bodies.  

r. Finally, as this review has coincided with the development of the IOM programme, 
we urge this Council to chase the progress of these recommendations and to return 
to the subject in two years time when practices and outcomes can be assessed. 

s. The review group is immensely grateful to everyone who gave their time to help us in 
our deliberations. We councillors are indebted to the hard work and intellectual 
commitment of our review co-ordinator Sam Block without whose help we would 
have been at sea. Nonetheless, any errors or misunderstandings in this report are 
wholly those of the councillors on the review group. 

Page 9



3

!

A REVIEW OF INTEGRATED OFFENDER MANAGEMENT IN 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

INTRODUCTION
1.1.1 This review was commissioned to investigate the current arrangements for 

managing, and providing services to, offenders in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough, with particular, but not exclusive, reference to the recent 
national Integrated Offender Management (IOM) policy. 

1.1.2 This is the first member-led review of the Safer and Stronger Communities 
Scrutiny Committee. It was chosen because the management of offenders 
was thought to be a key issue for the Committee. 

1.1.3 The idea of ‘integration’ is not considered uncritically. Interfaces between 
organisations are examined without presupposing that ‘more integrated’ 
means ‘better’. 

1.1.4 What follows is not, and does not attempt to be, an exhaustive survey of this 
area, but rather a broad examination accompanied by a few areas of specific 
focus, and some recommendations for further work. 

1.1.5 The report first summarises the background of IOM, both nationally and within 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough. It then considers the County’s structures for 
managing offenders with particular reference to levels and types of 
integration, before examining two specific areas (mental health and housing) 
in close-up. Finally, it identifies further areas where review work would be 
particularly beneficial. 

1.1.6 This review takes place alongside a review of alcohol misuse, and, as such, 
focuses less on issues of substance misuse; it should be read in this context. 

1.1.7 For clarity, throughout this document, ‘Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’ is 
used to refer to the area covered by Cambridgeshire County Council and 
Peterborough Unitary Authority. ‘Cambridgeshire’ alone refers to the area 
covered by Cambridgeshire County Council (that is, it excludes 
Peterborough).

1.1.8 This review was undertaken through a combination of desk/library research, 
interviews with those who provide, use and commission services, site visits 
and consultation with experts. 

Page 10



4

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

BACKGROUND

THE DEVELOPMENT OF INTEGRATED OFFENDER MANAGEMENT, AND THE 

PROLIFIC AND OTHER PRIORITY OFFENDERS SCHEME

2.1.1 The most prolific 10% of offenders are responsible for 50% of crime; the most 
prolific 0.5% are estimated to be responsible for 9% of offences. In 2004, the 
Home Office introduced the Prolific and other Priority Offenders (PPO) 
Strategy, an intensive intervention aimed at this latter group.1

2.1.2 PPO was not an effort to deal with the most dangerous offenders, who were, 
and are, addressed by Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA), but to manage those responsible for large amounts of less serious 
crime (such as serious acquisitive crime). 

2.1.3 The PPO Scheme was an interagency effort based around three strands of 
intervention (Prevent & Deter, Catch & Convict and Rehabilitate & Resettle), 
which combined and coordinated enforcement-based interventions with more 
rehabilitative programmes. Co-location of workers was encouraged. Probation 
and the Police were the key agencies to be involved.2 PPO fitted alongside 
other programmes, such as the Drugs Intervention Programme (DIP). 

2.1.4 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough have been covered by three PPO 
schemes since 2005: one in Northern (Peterborough) Basic Command Unit 
(BCU), one in Central and one in Southern. Today, one scheme (Northern) 
serves between 60 and 80 PPOs. 

2.1.5 Nationally, the PPO Scheme has been successful, demonstrating as much as 
a 62% reduction in offending over 17 months among its cohort.3

Cambridgeshire’s own PPO schemes showed a reduction of 30% in 2009-
10.4

2.1.6 Professionals and users talked positively about the scheme. Several agencies 
indicated to the review group that PPO was one of their best experiences of 
interagency working, and, while some offenders disliked PPO’s intensive 

!
1 Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offender Strategy: Initial Guidance – Catch and Convict 
Framework ([London]: [Home Office], 2004); Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offender 
Strategy: Supplementary Guidance – Rehabilitate and Resettle Framework ([London]: [Home Office], 
2004). 
2 Home Office, PPO Initial Guidance – Catch and Convict, p. 10. 
3 Paul Dawson & Lucy Cuppleditch, An Impact Assessment of the Prolific and other Priority Offender 
Programme. Home Office online report 08/07 (2007). (Available at 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100413151441/http:/www.crimereduction.homeoffice.gov
.uk/ppo/rdsolr0807.pdf) [Accessed 10th September 2010]; Ian Critchley & Jeremy Holland, 
‘Coordinating a Clean Slate with a Community Sentence’, presentation at Better Together: IOM 
Conference 2010; Jackie Lowthian, Louise Gartland & Ian Wilson, ‘Third Sector Services at the Heart 
of Integrated Offender Management’, presentation at Better Together: IOM Conference 2010.
4 Helen Turner, memorandum regarding Integrated Offender Management (2010). 

Page 11



5

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

enforcement, many stated they were glad to be under such intensive 
supervision with its attendant support.5

2.1.7 The PPO scheme was not without its problems. Offenders tended to stay on 
the scheme longer than was justified by their need and the scarce resources 
available. In 2009, 51% of offenders on the PPO scheme had been there for 
more than 2 years, 18% for more than 5; this is particularly striking given that 
all offenders are meant to have their place on the PPO list reviewed after 2 
years.6 This prompted the Home Office to call for a ‘refresh’ to ensure the 
PPO scheme served the most appropriate offenders. 

2.1.8 The Integrated Offender Management (IOM) policy can be seen as a 
development of PPO. It builds on existing structures to widen both the level of 
interagency cooperation and the cohort of offenders involved.7  As well as 
PPO, it strongly involves DIP. 

2.1.9 Nationally, IOM sets out to achieve: 

! Sustainable reductions in crime 
! Sustainable reductions in re-offending 
! Improved confidence in the Criminal Justice system 
! Improved exchange of information between agencies 
! Improved communications of outcomes to victims and the public.8

2.1.10 As this report is written (November 2011), an IOM Project Manager, employed 
by Cambridgeshire Constabulary, is in the early stages of implementing IOM 
across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. The current state of IOM, and of 
systems for managing offenders more broadly, differs across the county.  

!
5 Dawson & Cuppleditch.!
6 Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offenders Programme: Five Years On – Maximising the 
Impact (London: COI, 2009). 
7 Home Office, Integrated Offender Management: Government Policy Statement (London: COI, 2009). 
8 Turner, 2010; Home Office, IOM: Government Policy Statement.!

Page 12



Fig 1 – A diagram representing various currently co-existing offender management systems.  MAPPA 
handles the most serious offenders, PPO the most serious and prolific offenders not included on 
MAPPA. DIP is represented as covering the most prolific offenders, as the profile of offenders with 
drug problems tends to be that they offend regularly, though not necessarily severely. IOM may add 
more offenders to the cohort by expanding the PPO group to include less prolific/serious offenders. 

Credit to Mike Soper, Cambridgeshire County Council. 

2.1.11 All areas have MAPPA schemes. 

2.1.12 The Constabulary’s Northern BCU (Peterborough) has a PPO scheme, a DIP 
scheme and the Key Project. The Key Project uses the same selection criteria as 
PPO, but includes offenders with lower scores: it therefore effectively widens the 
PPO cohort to include less prolific/problematic offenders, as IOM would. It is not, 
however, integrated with PPO, but is a separate programme. 

2.1.13 Central BCU hosts PPO and DIP schemes.  

2.1.14 Southern BCU hosts PPO and DIP schemes co-located in Parkside Police Station. 
Technically, Central and Southern BCU share a DIP scheme; the two areas are, 
however, operationally distinct. 

2.1.15 Where it has been implemented in other areas, the review group heard, IOM has 
experienced success, with some localities reporting reductions in re-offending among 
their cohorts of between 40% and 45%.9

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

6

!

9 Bernard Lane, Cliff Bacon & Edna Ross, ‘PPO & DIP within IOM’, presented at Better Together: IOM 
Conference 2010; Gary Goose & Alison Hancock, CCJB Integrated Offender Management (IOM) – 
Update Position (2010). 

Page 13



7

!

2.1.16 Further details of the success and failure of PPO and IOM are explained throughout 
this report, where they become relevant to the review group’s other findings. 

PRELIMINARIES
2.2.1 The Criminal Justice Board’s Strategic Lead on IOM emphasised to the review group 

that IOM is a long-term project. It should not be expected to deliver improvements in 
three months, but in three years. The review group agreed, however that long-term 
benefits are still real and important. 

2.2.2 Both academics at the Cambridge Institute of Criminology and practitioners on the 
IOM Strategic Group recognise there is a lack of formal, national evaluation of IOM; 
the review group heard, however, of optimism among professionals and promising 
reports from individual pilot sites.

2.2.3 Through the course of conducting this review, the group had the privilege to talk with 
practitioners and visit projects which demonstrate the excellence that dedicated work 
can achieve. The group thanks all those who contributed to the process both for their 
participation in the review and for the work they do. 

THE OFFENDER MANAGEMENT SYSTEM(S): INTEGRATION AND DISINTEGRATION
3.1.1 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough do not suffer from a lack of organisations which 

provide services to offenders. While some question the level of resources available, 
the landscape of institutions contributing to offender management is complex and 
panoramic.

3.1.2 The review group heard how difficult it can be for professionals to navigate the 
complex landscape comprising myriad different organisations. For service users, the 
complexity must seem much greater still. 

3.1.3 Figure 2, below, shows some of the organisations involved in the provision of 
services to offenders in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, according to the areas of 
support (known as ‘pathways) they work in. Due to the intense complexity of the 
situation, it has not been possible to show every organisation, or every function of 
those organisations shown. Meanings of acronyms in the diagram can be found in 
the glossary to this document. 

Page 14



PPO

Probation
Police

Youth OS

CJB/CSPs

Probation 
Housing 
Workers

DIP

Drugs & 
Alcohol

Bridgegate

Addaction

CPS

Prisons

Finance

NACRO 
finance 
worker

Housing

Supported Housing

Direct Access
RSLs

NACRO 
Housing worker

NACRO

Probation 
ETE 
Workers

ETE

ETE Peterborough
Wisbech Youth East

STORM

Connexions

Shaw 
Trust SEETEC

Job Centre 
PlusColleges

Children/Families
NACRO 
families 
worker

Social Care FIP

Young People

Schools

YOS Clinical 
Psychologist

Women

Dawn Project 
(incl all 
pathways)
Specialist 
support for 
sex workers

MIND
Cyrenians

Richmond

HealthCAMEO Community 
Psychiatric 
Nurses

Acute sector 
mental health

Courts

Step One

A4E

Dhiverse

ADFAM Relate
Talktime
Homestart

Hostels

Street 
Outreach

Next Steps
Cherry 
Hinton 
Hall

Forensic Teams

PPO

Probation
PolicePolice

Youth OS

CJB/CSPsCJB/CSPs

Probation 
Housing 
Workers

DIP

Drugs & 
Alcohol

Bridgegate

Addaction

CPSCPS

PrisonsPrisons

Finance

NACRO 
finance 
worker

Housing

Supported Housing

Direct Access
RSLs

NACRO 
Housing worker

NACRO

Probation 
ETE 
Workers

ETE

ETE Peterborough
Wisbech Youth East

STORM

Connexions

Shaw 
Trust SEETEC

Job Centre 
PlusColleges

Children/Families
NACRO 
families 
worker

Social Care FIP

Young People

Schools

YOS Clinical 
Psychologist

Women

Dawn Project 
(incl all 
pathways)
Specialist 
support for 
sex workers

MIND
Cyrenians

Richmond

HealthCAMEO Community 
Psychiatric 
Nurses

Acute sector 
mental health

CourtsCourts

Step One

A4E

Dhiverse

ADFAM Relate
Talktime
Homestart

Hostels

Street 
Outreach

Next Steps
Cherry 
Hinton 
Hall

Forensic Teams

ProbProbProbProbProbProbatioatioatioatioatioatioatioatioatioatioation n n n n 
HousHousHousHousHousHousHousHousHousing ing ing ing ing ing ing ing ing 
WorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkWorkerserserserserserserserschchchchchch

n n n n n n n n n n n n PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPOOOOOOOOO

PrPrPrPrPrPrPrPrProbobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobobatatatatatatatatatioioioioioioioioionnnnnnnnn
PoPoPoPoPoPoPoPoPolililililililililicecececececececece

CJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJB/B/B/B/B/B/B/B/B/CSCSCSCSCSCSCSCSCSPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsCJCJCJB/B/B/CSCSCSPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJB/B/B/B/B/B/B/B/CSCSCSCSCSCSCSCSPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPsPs

ProbProbProbProbProbProbProbProbatioatioatioatioatioatioatioation n n n n n n n 
The One Service

Fig 2 – a diagram of the services available to offenders within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 

3.1.4 This is not unique to Cambridgeshire and Peterborough: many of the various 
organisations available are national bodies with services in most, or all, areas. 
Nevertheless, this complexity can make it harder for offenders and those working 
with them to access the right support. 

3.1.5 Even where the system is perfectly understood, if the criteria for eligibility for different 
programmes are imperfectly coordinated, gaps in provision can exist. Certain groups 
of offenders can be left unserved, all programmes believing that meeting their needs 
is someone else’s job. 

3.1.6 In Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, IOM is understood as an opportunity to make 
sure this does not happen. As the IOM Strategic Group puts it, IOM can catch those 
offenders who might ‘‘fall between the gaps’ in existing programmes’.10

3.1.7 Were IOM ‘just another programme’, it would risk, rather than filling in the cracks 
between programmes, simply bringing a new set of cracks of its own: the landscape 
of organisations would become that bit more complex, and some offenders would still 
be accidentally unprovided for. The review group believes, however, that IOM has 
the potential to be more than just another programme: done right, it can coordinate 
many of the existing efforts towards offender management, alleviating, rather than 

8

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
10 Goose & Hancock. 

Page 15



9

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

suffering from, these problems. It is, in the opinion of the group, absolutely vital that 
all agencies understand IOM as a facility to coordinate an already-complex system. 

3.1.8 This section first examines the cohort under consideration, then the appropriate 
levels and methods of integration of management. 

THE COHORT
3.2.1 This subsection examines both the appropriate size of the cohort of offenders for an 

IOM scheme, and the organisation of that cohort. 

Expanding the Cohort 
3.2.2 The review group heard that those incarcerated on short sentences (less than 12 

months) have a 70-76% chance of being re-incarcerated within two years, in part 
because there is insufficient time for interventions to take effect within prison.11

3.2.3 In reality, members of this group often spend substantially less than 12 months in 
prison, whether because of their initial sentence length or the proportion of it they 
serve; 86% serve less than 6 months.12

3.2.4 In the East of England, in fact, the average sentence length for those with sentences 
under 12 months is 5 weeks. There are 1400 such prisoners in the East of England; 
while this represents only 16% of the prison population at any given moment, 
because they pass through prison so much more quickly than other offenders, they 
are a far higher proportion of the number of people incarcerated.13

3.2.5 The group heard that this cohort is currently underserved. Not only are they not 
eligible for existing PPO schemes, but they are also excluded from the criteria for 
Probation’s intervention because they are not on statutory licenses or orders. 

3.2.6 The group feels that the particularly high proportion of short-sentence offenders re-
offending combined with the relative absence of interventions currently provided for 
them created a strong case for ensuring IOM served at least the more prolific of 
these offenders. 

3.2.7 One problem with the existing PPO scheme was that offenders remained on it for 
longer than the optimal use of resources justified (see paragraph 2.1.7 above).  

!
11 Ian Mulheirn, Barney Gough & Verena Menne, Prison Break: Tackling Recidivism, Reducing Costs 
(London: The Social Market Foundation, 2010), p. 21; Robin Elliott-Marshall, Malcolm Ramsay & 
Duncan Stewart, ‘Alternative Approaches to Integrating Offenders into the Community’, in The Impact 
of Corrections on Re-Offending: a Review of ‘What Works’, ed. by Gemma Harper & Chloe Chitty, 
Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 2005), pp. 31-55 (p. 58), citing 
Tonry, 2002. 
12 Mulheirn, Gough & Menne, p. 20. 
13 NOMS East of England, East of England: Commissioning for the ‘Rehabilitation Revolution’: a 
Consultation Document (Peterborough: NOMS East of England, 2010). 

Page 16



10

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

3.2.8 One reason for this was that there is no trusted option for onward referral available to 
PPO workers. In the words of a worker in the Nottinghamshire scheme, ‘they may 
have improved and be out of the red, but they still need some support’.14

3.2.9 Without trusted support available elsewhere, caseworkers feeling a responsibility to 
their clients may keep them on the high-intensity PPO scheme longer than 
necessary, because there is no lower-intensity option. In an all-or-nothing situation, 
they choose ‘all’.15

3.2.10 Equally, when offenders who no longer need PPO’s high-intensity interventions are 
deselected, they may be prone to slip back into crime because the interventions 
which have been helping them suddenly drop away. 

3.2.11 The review group identified this as a further strong reason for using IOM to cater for a 
wider group of offenders – this time, those who need somewhere to go after full PPO-
style interventions. 

3.2.12 Other localities have successfully widened their cohorts. Manchester, for instance, 
included in IOM: 

! All former PPOs  

! The more dangerous (level 2 & 3) MAPPA clients 

! Priority Youth Offending Team (YOT) clients  

! Those posing a high risk of domestic violence  

! Others posing a high risk of serious harm (through violent or acquisitive 
crime).16

3.2.13 Bolton set up Fuse, a specific project to deal with certain non-MAPPA, non-PPO 
offenders.17

3.2.14 Luminus staff told the Review that they had already started referring less prolific 
offenders to the PPO team to enable them to benefit from this effective programme.  

3.2.15 Managers from Probation recognised that IOM would mean taking on new clients. 
They felt, however, that they could accommodate these by working better, and that it 
was well worth doing so as it would reduce the demand for higher intensity services 
in the future by catching ‘potential PPOs’ early. 

!
14 Charlotte Lawson, Integrated Offender Management Good Practice, (Leicester: Perpetuity 
Research), p. 11.!
15 Home Office, PPO Five Years On, p. 9. 
16 Spotlight, Greater Manchester: Integrated Offender Management Toolkit (London: Home Office, 
2010), pp. 20-21. 
17 Lawson, p. 16. 

Page 17



Recommendation 1.i – The cohort for IOM should be wider than the current cohort 
for PPO.

Recommendation 1.ii – Specifically, it should include the more prolific of those 
offenders currently receiving no interventions because they served less than 12 
months, and those who need lower-intensity interventions following intensive, 
‘PPO-style’ work. 

3.2.16 Senior figures in the Police and Probation, the agencies leading the IOM Strategic 
Group agree that the cohort of offenders involved with IOM should be widened.18

3.2.17 This does not mean, however, that everyone in the relevant organisations is 
prepared for the new clients, and the new types of clients, that a widened cohort 
might bring. One manager in Probation, while personally open to this new cohort, told 
the group that the organisation was ‘not set up to’ serve non-statutory clients, who 
were not normally offered places on Probation-run interventions even when a lack of 
demand from statutory clients left places vacant. 

3.2.18 In part, this was because of concerns regarding the example set by a non-statutory 
(voluntary) client deciding to leave an intervention, and the impact this would have on 
the motivation of those statutory (compelled) clients who are not permitted to do the 
same. 

3.2.19 Moreover, non-statutory clients would require quite a different way of working of 
Probation officers, without some of the tools which are normally available. 

3.2.20 Another manager in Probation told the review group that Probation Officers are 
managed mainly on their statutory cases, with any non-statutory work being seen as 
less their core responsibility. 

3.2.21 According the East of England branch of the National Offender Management Service 
(NOMS), the right solution for IOM might ‘involve all agencies, including probation 
and prisons, exceeding their formal (or statutory) responsibilities’.19

11

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
18 Gary Goose, Integrated Offender Management (IOM) in Cambridgeshire: Project Brief (2010).!
19 NOMS East of England, p. 6. 

Page 18



Recommendation 2.i – Agencies should consider IOM, including non-statutory 
clients, as part of their core business. 

Recommendation 2.ii – Agencies should ensure this perception cascades 
throughout their organisations.

Recommendation 2.iii – The review group welcomes Probation’s commitment to 
taking on the cohorts of offenders outlined in Recommendation 1. 

Recommendation 2.iv – Probation and other agencies should ensure that 
resources are aligned to give due priority to these cohorts. They should ensure 
that this attitude is embedded within their working practices. This should include 
altering performance management arrangements as necessary to make certain that 
staff are held to account for their work with non-statutory offenders as they are 
with statutory offenders.

Dividing the Cohort 
3.2.22 The review group heard recommendations from a number of agencies that IOM 

should act as a single point of referral for offenders who might have been referred to 
various different existing schemes (principally PPO and DIP). A member of the Drugs 
and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) suggested the Common Assessment Framework 
(CAF) used for referrals to Children’s Services as a potential model for this. 

3.2.23 The review group heard a broad consensus that IOM should act as a single point of 
referral for (at least) PPO clients and the expanded cohort.  Some, however, 
suggested that after referral offenders should be re-categorised by currently-existing 
schemes – that is, that you split down offenders to PPOs, DIP clients and so on.  

3.2.24 Manchester’s IOM, the Spotlight Programme, recommends ensuring that PPOs are 
considered to be part of, not separate from, the IOM cohort, so that they benefit from 
the improved flows of information and widened networks which IOM promises.20

3.2.25 The review group heard that work has already been done in some agencies to pool 
their staff working on separate offender management programmes. Probation in 
Peterborough have pooled their staff, and the IOM Project Manager suggested the 
pooling of Constabulary staff is also under consideration, to improve coordination 
across projects. 

3.2.26 The review group heard also, from the Operational and Neighbourhood Support 
Manager of the Constabulary’s Southern BCU that the pooling of cohorts across the 
Southern and Central BCUs might save on management overheads. 

3.2.27 Other witnesses to the review, both from within Cambridgeshire County Council and 
from organisations providing services to offenders noted the difficulty of coordinating 
across multiple schemes within Cambridgeshire. 

12

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
20 Spotlight, p. 34. 

Page 19



Recommendation 3.i – New IOM clients should not be treated as new cohort of 
‘IOMs’ alongside cohorts of ‘PPOs’, ‘DIPs’ and ‘MAPPAs’. Rather, once remaining 
MAPPA and DIP have been separated out, IOM should treat all its remaining clients 
(that is, those formerly classed as ‘PPOs’, plus those new clients IOM expands its 
cohort to include) as one continuous cohort. There should be a sliding scale of 
interventions available, to be individually tailored to an offender’s needs. 

Recommendation 3.ii – Cambridgeshire’s IOM should use a single governance 
structure. This structure, however, should be flexible enough to allow districts to 
pursue local priorities within IOM. 

Recommendation 3.iii – It is neither likely to be appropriate that a fixed , equivalent 
number of IOM clients are found in each district, regardless of the severity of that 
district’s problems, nor that exactly the same thresholds for selection are used in 
each district, even if that leaves some almost entirely unserved by IOM. The review 
group recommends that a balance be struck between allocating IOM resources to 
the most prolific offenders in the county and ensuring all districts are served. 

INTEGRATION
3.3.1 The Review did not assume that more interagency working was always good. 

Indeed, the group heard important warnings both from senior managers working on 
IOM and from academics that time spent on developing partnerships was a cost 
which must be justified by improved outcomes. A cautionary tale was told about one 
IOM scheme whose staff members were asked what had changed now joint working 
arrangements were in place. ‘Nothing;’ they replied, ‘but we do have more meetings’. 
Meetings for meetings’ sake were a phenomenon the review group was keen to 
avoid.

3.3.2 Having appreciated such warnings, however, the Review heard strong evidence in 
favour of greater joint working that goes beyond mere inter-organisation partnerships. 
This section examines that evidence, then analyses arrangements for integration, 
statutory and non-statutory agencies, the link worker model, the process of case 
management and the role of mainstream (non-IOM) staff. 

The Case for Joint Working; the Case for IOM 
3.3.3 Offenders tend to have multiple and complex needs, which require a programme of 

multiple interventions tailored to the individual.21 Co-operative working enables 
organisations to access a greater variety of interventions, and to ensure they are 
delivered in a joined-up way. 

13

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

3.3.4 As the Constabulary’s IOM Strategic Lead warns, disconnected working can lead to 
offenders ‘playing off’ professionals against each other, telling different stories to 

!
21 Gemma Harper & Chloe Chitty, Executive Summary to The Impact of Corrections on Re-offending: 
a Review of ‘What Works’, ed. By Harper & Chitty, Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition 
(London: Home Office, 2005), pp. i-xx (p. xi; xix); Mulheirn, Gough & Menne, p. 26; Lawrence 
Sherman et al., ‘Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn’t; What’s Promising’, National Institute 
of Justice: Research in Brief.

Page 20



14

!

to another agency, ra

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

different people and making the same requests to different professionals until they 
are fulfilled. Coordination allows a single, consistent and so more powerful message. 

3.3.5 Uncoordinated efforts are more likely to duplicate effort than coordinated ones. The 
introduction of IOM in the West Midlands saved significant amounts of staff time by 
removing duplication, and by systematising interagency communication.  It was 
found, for instance, that multiple agencies saw finding an offender housing as their 
responsibility. Several people would seek a housing slot at the same time for the 
same offender. By reducing duplication over housing alone, each agency saved ½ a 
day per week of staff time; the same could be said of duplication over drug 
prescriptions.22

3.3.6 A lack of understanding between agencies can cause unnecessary friction, and make 
work less efficient.23 The review group heard, for instance, that housing providers 
could become frustrated with Probation because they were not ‘doing something’ in 
terms of enforcement when offenders were misbehaving (though breaking neither the 
law nor the terms of their license), without understanding that there was no such 
action Probation could legally take. Similarly, we heard of a District Council becoming 
frustrated with a prison because they were releasing an offender before 
accommodation had been secured; the Council was unaware that it would have been 
illegal to detain the offender further.  

3.3.7 By contrast, the London Diamond Initiative (London’s IOM scheme) helped develop 
mutual understanding through regular interaction. Particularly where members of 
staff were dedicated Diamond workers, the evaluation rated the project highly for a 
‘trusting atmosphere’.24 More broadly, good relationships with those providing 
mainstream services (housing, for example) can give those providers confidence in 
granting offenders access to their services.25

3.3.8 When members of different agencies were brought together to discuss an issue 
within Review meetings, the group observed understanding developing; guests even 
remarked on how much they were learning about related agencies. This at once 
emphasised the need for closer working and showed that it could work. 

3.3.9 The Manager of Rehabilitation and Recovery, and Head of Social Work at Cambridge 
and Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT), the county’s mental health 
provider trust, explained another potential problem to the review group: as agencies 
come under increasing pressure, it becomes increasingly tempting to classify a 
certain client as somebody else’s work in order to relieve the pressure. 
Consequently, decisions are made based on institutional interests to pass a case on 

ther than according to what is actually appropriate. The ideal 

!
22 ad esse, Integrated Offender Management in West Midlands LCJB. (Ad Esse Consulting, 2009); 
with clarification through personal conversation. 
23 Graham Park & Sue Ward, Through the Gates – Improving the Effectiveness of Prison Discharge: 
First Half-Year Evaluation, August 2008 to January 2009 (London: St. Giles Trust, 2009), p. 27.!
24 Paul Dawson & Betsy Stanko, An Evaluation of the Diamond Initiative: Year One Findings (London: 
Metropolitan Police Service & London Criminal Justice Partnership, 2010). 
25 Clarissa Penfold et al., Homelessness Prevention and Meeting Housing Need for (Ex-)Offenders: a 
Guide to Practice (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2009), p. 15.!

Page 21



model to avoid this, he believes, is a multi-agency team to manage offenders, in 
which individuals are held accountable as a team, not as members of diverse 
agencies.

3.3.10 Naturally, IOM is not the only model of joint working. It does, however, have several 
things in its favour. 

3.3.11 IOM extends a model of joint working from PPO that the review group heard many 
agencies have had good experiences with. Luminus already refer non-PPO-eligible 
offenders to PPO precisely because to access its system (as noted in paragraph 
3.2.14 above). Similarly, Peterborough’s division of CAMEO (an early-intervention 
psychosis service for people aged 16-35), while they have had only a small amount 
of experience with PPO describe it very positively. 

3.3.12 It extends a programme which works. The Cambridgeshire PPO project has 
successfully cut offending by as much as 30%, and IOM schemes elsewhere have 
reduced offences among their cohorts by 40-45% (see paragraphs 2.1.5 & 2.1.15 
above). The Key Project in Peterborough is not an IOM scheme, but does tackle a 
similar group of offenders (serious acquisitive offenders not included by other existing 
programmes) through a multi-agency approach. The Constabulary’s IOM Strategic 
Lead told the review group that burglaries in Peterborough had been cut from more 
160 per week to fewer than 100 per week. 

3.3.13 It is flexible, with the potential to allow tailoring to local priorities. 

Recommendation 4 – Agencies, including but not limited to Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs) should recognise the potential benefits of an IOM approach. 

Arrangements for Joint Working 
3.3.14 In the past, informal mechanisms have been enough to ensure inter-agency co-

operation. Several witnesses from different organisations, however, explained the 
review group that rising caseloads over recent years had put pressure on these 
relationships. As workers receive more work, the time taken to call or meet with 
people in other agencies is sacrificed. At the same time, agencies become more 
prone to stick to their core work, raising barriers to referrals from others. The 
increasing requirement to evidence referrals, and the reluctance of organisations to 
simply ‘have a quick look’ at someone’s case increases the amount of work one has 
to do in order to cooperate.  

3.3.15 This was not described as a good solution, but as the inevitable consequence of 
human behaviour and institutional interests. Working together might have found 
better, more efficient solutions, but was lost when time was short. 

3.3.16 A PPO Coordinator also told the review group that most knowledge about other 
organisations was currently held as one-to-one interpersonal relationships. As other 

15

!

Page 22



projects have found, these rely on the known individual not being absent, and are 
vulnerable to staff turnover.26

3.3.17 IOM guidance recommends regular case management meetings, which are also held 
to be effective by independent research work.27 The Operational and Neighbourhood 
Support Manager for the Constabulary’s Southern Basic Command Unity (BCU) 
characterises getting the right people round the table, at both an operational and a 
strategic level as ‘all we need’. Professor Lorraine Gelsthorpe, who has conducted 
research with a number of IOM schemes, commends such regular case management 
meetings.

3.3.18 Elsewhere, these meetings have taken place as frequently as daily, or as infrequently 
as monthly.28

3.3.19 CPFT’s Manager of Rehabilitation and Recovery, and Head of Social Work noted 
that his staff sometimes had to sit through many cases of little relevance to them at 
PPO meetings in order to hear those which were more relevant. Meetings can, to an 
extent, be coordinated to make sure that cases relevant to given groups come 
together.

Recommendation 5 – IOM should feature regular case management meetings to 
discuss offenders. These should bring together the agencies involved in providing 
services for those offenders. Meetings should be organised, as far as possible, to 
ensure agencies can attend those cases relevant to them without spending 
unnecessary time in discussions about other cases. 

3.3.20 At a strategic level too, it can be difficult for agencies to navigate the landscape of 
other institutions providing services to offenders. The Dawn Project Coordinator 
explained to the review group the difficulties of organising across so many different 
organisations. 

3.3.21 The One Service is a ‘through-the-gate’ intervention which works with short 
sentenced, male prisoners released from HMP Peterborough. Social Finance raised 
social investment for this through a Social Impact Bond. The Reducing Re-offending 
Director at Social Finance highlighted the contrast between the accessibility of 
strategic offender management communication in Peterborough with that in 
Cambridgeshire. In Peterborough, one IOM meeting acts as a ‘front door’ to agencies 
working with the IOM cohort. In Cambridgeshire there is a patchwork of meetings 
which makes it more difficult to find the right forum in which to engage with fellow 
professionals, make suggestions or seek guidance on commissioning decisions. 

3.3.22 Peterborough also hosted a single information-sharing agreement for the IOM group, 
further reducing the costs of engagement. 

16

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
26 Park & Ward, p. 28. 
27 Lawson.
28 Lawson.!

Page 23



3.3.23 It has been more difficult for One Service staff to engage with IOM providers in 
Cambridgeshire due to the number of meetings to attend and distance to travel 
between them.

3.3.24 Where there is effective joint working, resources, like training courses, space etc. can 
be pooled and shared. 

3.3.25 The Director highlighted that operational working is more streamlined if contacts have 
already been made. The One Service has partners within the Peterborough IOM 
team and as a result can more easily access appropriate providers when required. In 
Cambridgeshire these links are made on an ad hoc basis due to the lack of a clear 
strategic forum for offender management. 

3.3.26 The IOM Project Manager noted that, where strategic discussions are taking place 
within the county, there is a risk of duplication due to the patchwork structure of 
meetings relevant to offender management. 

3.3.27 The Constabulary Strategic Lead hoped that by March 2011, IOM would be set up, 
so the current IOM Strategic Group would no longer need to operate. 

3.3.28 In light of the above evidence, however, the review group feels that even when IOM 
has been set up, there will be a continual need for a forum for discussions about the 
IOM service. 

3.3.29 This is made particularly true by the fact that meetings are not only divided by topic, 
but by locality. Managers within Cambridgeshire County Council as well as those 
working for provider organisations suggested that the fact that there were, for 
example, two separate PPO and DIP schemes within Cambridgeshire was 
problematic.

3.3.30 The Dawn Project’s Coordinator also told the review group of the particular difficulties 
of working across the boundary between Peterborough and Cambridgeshire, due to 
the increased numbers of people who needed to be consulted. 

3.3.31 In addition, these discussions also highlight the importance of a directory of available 
interventions, so a lack of prior co-working, or the absence of one’s personal contact 
need not preclude co-operation. The IOM Project Manager, in co-operation with 
Southern PPO is already creating such a document. This seems doubly important as 
a service user told the group that he only found out about many key services by 
chance, following informal conversations with a neighbour or worker. 

Recommendation 6 – The governance structure described in Recommendation 3.ii 
should act as a forum for strategic discussion of offender management services 
and interaction between agencies. It should be publicised to relevant agencies. 

Recommendation 7 – The review group commends the current creation of a 
directory of interventions as a priority. The group looks forward to its publication, 
and urges all agencies to proactively cooperate to ensure they are included. 

17

!

Page 24



18

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

Statutory & Non-statutory Organisations 
3.3.32 This report has, thus far, made recommendations regarding how agencies might be 

coordinated, but not addressed which agencies those should be. 

3.3.33 Several senior figures within the development of IOM told the review group that, with 
increasing financial limitations for statutory agencies, drawing on third sector 
contributions would become increasingly important. 

3.3.34 IOM programmes are able to make significant savings by working collaboratively with 
the third sector. Statutory agencies are also able to focus on the work to which they 
are best suited, in the knowledge that third sector partners are covering other 
areas.29

3.3.35 A senior manager within Probation, however, told the review group that 
Cambridgeshire suffered from a particular division between statutory services and 
non-statutory/third sector bodies, and contrasted this unfavourably with other areas 
where the manager had worked. This problem was attributed in part to an historical 
lack of active attempts to form links on Probation’s behalf, but the fact that other 
organisations had not similarly held themselves accountable may be attributable to a 
particular (and particularly helpful) candor on this manager’s behalf. It was also 
emphasised that Probation have recently increased their efforts to engage other 
bodies, with positive results. 

3.3.36 Managers throughout the statutory bodies the review group heard from suggested 
that engaging the third sector was important, but that the first step must be effective 
joint working between statutory bodies. 

3.3.37 A Probation manager pointed out also that there was some hesitancy among 
Probation staff to work with other organisations who they worried would, in effect, be 
replacing them. 

3.3.38 In sum, the review group heard that Peterborough tends to work much more 
successfully with third sector organisations than Cambridgeshire. 

3.3.39 The Reducing Re-offending Director felt that the easy accessibility of the offender 
management system to third sector organisations in Peterborough was ‘crucial’, that 
day-to-day experience gave an ‘idea of the value of other people’s contributions’, and 
to overcome the ‘fear of duplication of work’. In short, it made a ‘huge difference’. 

3.3.40 The account of The One Service itself in IOM Strategic Group publications bears this 
out. Initially, the predominant description is of a problem – the threat that there may 
be duplication of work. Over time, this shifts to an opportunity for cooperation, The 
One Service becoming a member of the IOM Strategic Group itself.30

!
29 ad esse, p. 4. 
30 Goose, IOM in Cambridgeshire: Project Brief; Gary Goose, Integrated Offender Management 
Progress in the East of England (2010); Goose & Hancock. 

Page 25



3.3.41 There seems to be evidence, therefore, (echoing that given in paragraphs 3.3.6-8 
above) that joint working with non-statutory bodies can remove obstacles to 
understanding, and encourage better working relationships to develop sooner. 

3.3.42 Professor Gelsthorpe told the group also that teams who spent time together right at 
the start of the scheme, for example through joint training or away-days, worked 
together well. By contrast, those who did not start the scheme with such time, and 
perhaps even began working on the scheme at different times, fared less well. 
Manchester’s scheme used a multi-agency team to set up their scheme, and found 
this to be a successful model.31

3.3.43 Where non-statutory bodies have been involved in existing schemes, the group 
heard that strong, mutually-beneficial relationships have been developed. Workers 
from Luminus, for instance, told the review group that they found their relationship 
with the PPO scheme very productive, and that, through regular joint working, 
Probation increasingly trusted them to draw in the services necessary for an 
offender’s management directly, in collaboration with, not subordination to, Probation. 

Recommendation 8.i – Recognising the importance of the joint working of statutory 
bodies too, the review group recommends that the involvement of non-statutory 
and third sector organisations should be seen as a priority. 

Recommendation 8.ii – The review group notes that, in the course of this review, it 
has come across many third sector organisations with great energy and drive, and 
with a well-evidenced approach. The group anticipates that, with a small amount of 
effort and accommodation on the part of offender management services, more 
bodies like this can be found to valuably complement the options currently 
available.

3.3.44 Many IOM schemes have experimented with co-location of their multi-agency teams; 
they have experienced positive results. Research and practitioners affirm that co-
location is important; the IOM Strategic Group counts it as ‘key to success’.32 The co-
located London Diamond Initiative found 70-78% of staff identifying a ‘trusting 
atmosphere’ and 86-90% that team members ‘shared knowledge, ideas and 
information’.33 The evaluation suggests that co-location is largely responsible for the 
success of joint working.34

19

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

3.3.45 The review group heard that Southern Probation benefitted from a link worker from 
Addenbrooke’s Complex Cases Unit (which treats complex personality disorders) 
spending regular time in their offices. Informal advice and conversations, springing 
from that co-location, significantly improved Probation Officers’ skills at recognising 
and dealing with clients with personality disorders. 

!
31 Dave Lea, John Brimley, Cliff Bacon & Kevin Lister, Integrated Offender Management in Greater 
Manchester, presentation (Available at http://www.go-
nw.gov.uk/497468/docs/526727/879658/Spotlight_PP_3_GMP.ppt) [Accessed 17th November 2010]!
32 Lawson; Goose, IOM Progress in the East of England.
33 Martin Stevens, Chris Hemstead & Holly Bright, ‘The Diamond Initiative’, presented at Better
Together: IOM Conference 2010; Dawson & Stanko, p. 13. 
34 Dawson & Stanko, pp. 16-17.!

Page 26



3.3.46 A senior figure within the development of IOM noted that, while co-location was 
desirable, the decision was complicated by costs and discussions over the ownership 
and funding of the building. 

3.3.47 The group heard of costs to joint working – such as having to travel to meetings, 
particularly when one was working on only a small proportion of the cases at a given 
meeting – which would be mitigated by co-location. 

Prisons 

Recommendation 9 – The review group believes that there are very considerable 
benefits to be gained by the co-location of services, including, but not limited to, 
police, probation, mental health and drugs services. Partnership without co-
location will not bring the same benefits.

3.3.48 As well as agencies offering services to offenders after release from prison (whether 
statutory or non-statutory), the prison service is vital to an offender’s management. 

3.3.49 There are two key ways the review group heard that prisons are important to 
reducing re-offending: interventions offered within prison, and prisons’ efforts to 
facilitate effective post-release (and through-the-gates) interventions by other 
agencies.

3.3.50 The review group heard from the Head of Learning and Skills at HMP Peterborough 
that they carry out a range of interventions within prison; they do not, however, know 
how effective these interventions are in the long-term because they do not hear 
about their prisoners once they have left prison. The Head of Learning and Skills 
suggested that HMP Peterborough would very much appreciate feedback from other 
agencies on eventual outcomes for their clients. Such provision is important: one 
offender spoke negatively about a prison outside Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
where there was ‘no support network at all’; in particular, the lack of housing 
assistance left him unaware of services that were available. 

3.3.51 Interventions shortly after release from prison are vital to an offender’s chances of 
success. Countless witnesses described to the group the temptations available to 
offenders immediately on release from jail. Offenders are often released with £46 in 
their pocket, but without knowing when their first benefit cheque will be available – 
that is, with money to spend in the short-term, but not enough to support oneself on 
for long, and without the expectation of a sustainable, stable life in the near future. 
This can be particularly acute when prisoners are released on a Friday: £46 is very 
little to support oneself on for a weekend without offending and without returning to 
any old associates for accommodation, let alone to support oneself on until the first 
benefit cheque comes in. 

3.3.52 This is made particularly problematic by the fact that the process to apply for benefits 
cannot be started in prison, meaning that not only are recently released prisoners 
unsure when their cheque will come through, but they also have a reasonable 
expectation that it will be a long time. Job Seekers’ Allowance does not normally 
come through until 3 weeks after application; Employment Support Allowance (ESA) 
takes two months or more. 

20

!

Page 27



3.3.53 Moreover, claiming ESA requires extensive documentation, which can take time to 
gather, and is a very complex process. The group heard that some offenders think 
that ‘a life of crime is easier than claiming ESA’. At present, prisoners must wait to be 
released and to register with a GP before they can gather documentation for any 
medical problems. 

Recommendation 10.i – Prisoners should be able to begin the process for claiming 
Job Seekers’ Allowance while they are in prison, so that the first benefit payment 
arrives at the end of the first week after release. 

Recommendation 10.ii - Prisoners should similarly be able to apply for Employment 
Support Allowance in advance of their release. They should be able to get medical 
problems certified by the prison doctor rather than waiting for release. 

3.3.54 These facts demonstrated to the review group that we simply cannot expect most 
offenders to stay crime-free on leaving prison in the absence of further support. 

3.3.55 In some areas, offenders can be ‘left to [their] own devices when [they] come out of 
the gate’, as one offender in London put it.35 Cambridgeshire County Council’s Youth 
Justice Officer, however, noted that offenders, particularly young offenders, are 
almost inevitably going to reoffend if they do not have shelter and occupation within 
48 hours. As a member of the Drugs and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) put it, if 
offenders are not housed, they will seek accommodation from those they knew 
before, which is most likely a crack house. 

3.3.56 It is thus vital that prisoners are released in such a way that they can receive 
effective interventions. 

3.3.57 Often, however, prisoners are released without anywhere to live, the review group 
was told by Street Outreach, an organisation tasked with getting homeless people 
into accommodation. Because early release is conditional on having accommodation 
to go to, prisoners have an incentive to say they have accommodation. Frequently, 
they simply give the address of Jimmy’s Night Shelter in Cambridge. There is no 
process of checking addresses prisoners give, meaning they are often released with 
nowhere to stay, but with the prison thinking that they do have somewhere to stay. 

21

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

3.3.58 Similarly, the group heard that the release date and time of prisoners can change 
significantly and suddenly, making it almost impossible for other services to 
coordinate to meet and assist the offender. The Operations Manager of the St Giles 
Trust, which provides through-the-gates support to HMP Peterborough, noted that 
changes in release date and time were often down to accurate calculations of 
sentences taking place too late. For example, prisons often did not factor in time 
served in Police Stations until too late; on occasions, prisoners would simply receive 
a note one evening saying they would be released the next morning. The review 
group saw no reason why it should not be possible to factor in time served elsewhere 
as soon as a prisoner comes to prison. 

!
35 Dawson & Stanko, p. 27. 

Page 28



3.3.59 There can be a particular rush of releases on a Friday as prisoners are identified 
whose sentence should not keep them in prison for the full weekend. Concerningly, 
the review group heard that the weekend was a particularly dangerous time for 
offenders: support is often less available, and their friends would be going to the pub 
or similar. The likelihood of drinking combined with a lack of money to fund such 
entertainment can make re-offending more likely. 

3.3.60 Through-the-gates interventions can be particularly valuable.36 A manager in 
Probation told the review group of plans to increase inreach work; other agencies, 
however, including third sector agencies, talked of layers of bureaucracy necessary 
to gain access. These barriers included some forms initially insisted on, then later no 
longer designated as necessary, suggesting that either i) a lack of understanding of 
the actual requirements on behalf of the prison, or ii) institutional resistance to other 
agencies was responsible for these barriers, rather than strict legal necessity. 

Recommendation 11.i – The Prison Service should be centrally involved in IOM 

Recommendation 11.ii – IOM should be an opportunity for all agencies, including 
prisons to receive feedback on their clients and interventions from other agencies 

Recommendation 11.iii – Prisons should routinely calculate expected dates of 
release as early as possible, and communicate them to prisoners’ needs 
assessment meetings. Subsequent changes to this date should be avoided, and, in 
any event, should be communicated to IOM.  

Recommendation 11.iv – Unexpected release on a Friday should only take place 
where it is genuinely unavoidable. 

Link Workers 
3.3.61 The review group heard from the Education, Training and Employment (ETE) 

Coordinator for the Youth Offending Team (YOT), and from a representative from 
Connexions, a key agency for youth ETE. Both reported that the recent creation of 
the specific ETE Coordinator role within the YOT had made a significant difference to 
the effectiveness of the working relationship between YOT and Connexions. They 
noted that, while ETE work had been conducted in YOT before, the use of a single 
point of contact, and a person with particular responsibility for maintaining 
relationships with ETE providers had been vital. 

3.3.62 They reported also that the similar creation of a Housing Coordinator had brought 
similar benefits. 

3.3.63 The Trust Development Manager at Probation reported similarly the importance of 
‘pathway leads’ (‘pathways’ are areas of need towards which interventions might be 
targeted, such as ETE, housing, substance misuse, health and finance) in creating 
improved working relationships with other organisations. 

22

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
36 Stevens, Hemstead & Bright.!

Page 29



Recommendation 12 – Link workers are a valuable tool for all agencies because 
they give a named individual responsibility for keeping up links with a particular 
sector. The review group recognises that some bodies which provide services to 
offenders will not be part of every IOM meeting. Where this is the case, the group 
recommends IOM itself give a named IOM worker particular responsibility for 
liaising with that organisation/group of organisations. For example, if not all 
education providers attend IOM meetings regularly, there should be an IOM worker 
with particular responsibility for liaising with education providers. 

Case Management 
3.3.64 The literature identifies that continuity of contact with a single case manager is 

important to the success of a programme of interventions. Measures such as three-
way meetings between offenders, their case managers and the providers of any new 
interventions are supported.37

3.3.65 The group heard many different recommendations regarding who IOM’s case 
managers should be. An academic at the Cambridge Institute of Criminology 
recommended the police; some practitioners assume Probation are most suited; 
other IOM projects have successfully drawn case managers from a variety of 
different statutory and non-statutory bodies, deciding who is best suited to a 
particular offender based on their particular needs. This latter approach was credited 
with creating a good team atmosphere founded on equal respect.38

Recommendation 13 – The review group does not presume to determine who 
should be the case managers in IOM. Rather, it suggests that this should be 
discussed directly and openly between all interested bodies. 

Mainstream Staff 
3.3.66 Other IOM programmes which have involved members of IOM organisations who are 

not themselves IOM workers have been successful. Bolton’s IOM scheme, for 
instance, saw the involvement of Neighbourhood Policing Teams as central to their 
success.39 While there are clear reasons for a separate IOM team, the management 
of offenders is part of many agencies’ core business. Accessing such resources 
beyond the core team helps programmes succeed. 

3.3.67 Manchester’s Spotlight Programme used a computer system called the Spotlight 
Offender Management System (SOMS). As well as carrying out the work of the 
Spotlight team, SOMS makes that information available to mainstream staff, helping 
to involve them in IOM work.40

23

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
37 Gemma Harper, Lan-Ho Man, Sarah Taylor & Stephen Niven, ‘Factors Associated with Offending’, 
in The Impact of Corrections on Re-Offending: a Review of ‘What Works’, ed. by Harper & Chloe 
Chitty, Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 2005), pp. 17-30 (p. 28). 
38 Dawson & Stanko, p. 13. 
39 Lawson. 
40 Spotlight, p. 36. 

Page 30



Recommendation 14 – All agencies involved in IOM, while continuing to focus on 
engagement with other organisations, should remember the importance of 
engaging internally and getting staff not specifically assigned to IOM on board with 
its work. 

RATIONING
4.1.1 There is a wide body of academic literature regarding the efficacy of interventions in 

reducing offending behaviour.41 Particularly, but not only, because resources will 
come under increasing pressure, it is the opinion of the review group that effective 
and evidence-based rationing is vital.

4.1.2 The review group was unable to ascertain that agencies it spoke with, including 
statutory agencies, had clear frameworks to determine the most effective use of 
intervention resources.

4.1.3 Agencies were more likely to explain their basis for determining who got interventions 
of some sort, than that for assessing what interventions they received and how much
resource was expended. For example, one manager from Probation responded to a 
question on how it was determined what resources should be expended by 
explaining how the cohort of offenders to be managed was determined. There was 
little sense that, once an offender was included in a cohort, any conscious rationing 
decisions were taken. 

4.1.4 Several agencies warned that, in the presence of resource constraints, rationing 
became informal and even random. A senior manager in CPFT, for instance noted 
that, with the scarcity of specialist mental health resources, which offenders were 
able to access a given team was determined largely by whether one of the handful of 
staff members was free when they were arrested (the point of entry to the system). 

Recommendation 15 – All budget-holding agencies should produce clear 
frameworks for deciding what services are provided to whom and in what quantity. 
Such frameworks should be evidence-based and robustly linked to outcomes. 

4.1.5 The review group received evidence from a large number of organisations which 
provided services to offenders. As a general trend, most organisations presented a 
small number of (almost always positive) case studies to demonstrate the efficacy of 
their programmes. More systematic evaluations were rare. The evidence presented 
demonstrated that some valuable work was being done by agencies, but did not 
enable viewers to quantify this, compare interventions with each other or understand 
how services could be improved. 

4.1.6 The evidence the review group saw may or may not have been representative of the 
level of evaluation technically available within services. It was, however, the type of 
evidence agencies chose to present to demonstrate their interventions’ value. 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

24

!

41 See, for instance, Gemma Harper & Chloe Chitty, eds, The Impact of Corrections on Re-Offending: 
A Review of ‘What Works’, Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 
2005).!

Page 31



Recommendation 16.i – Agencies providing interventions should regularly and 
routinely evaluate their programmes, including their value for money. Agencies 
funding interventions should expect this level of evidence-based evaluation and 
provide advice necessary to achieve it. 

Recommendation 16.ii – While some existing projects might struggle to fulfill R16.i 
in the short term, it should be considered a medium-term priority, and all new 
projects should provide the evaluations R16.i describes. 

4.1.7 The review group was, however, impressed by the efforts made by some 
organisations to rigorously evidence-base their interventions, and justify their use of 
resources.

4.1.8 For example, the One Service is able to provide a wealth of evidential support both 
for the specific project it runs out of HMP Peterborough and similar through-the-gates 
interventions carried out elsewhere.42 In part, this is likely due to the particular 
evidential requirements of the Social Impact Bond model, which can ensure that 
interventions are able to demonstrate their achievement of defined targets linked to 
social benefit.43

4.1.9 Equally, however, the review group were impressed by the evidence base of the 
Dawn Project, who were again able to point to data regarding their own project and to 
wider evidence on the importance of interventions for female offenders, ex-offenders 
and potential offenders, demonstrating, for instance, that for every £1 invested in 
‘support-based alternatives to prison’, £14 of social value accrues over ten years.44

The Project also provided the review group with evidence of their level of successful 
outcomes across nine different sets of needs. As of September 2010, for the cohort 
of women referred between December 2009 and March 2010, each need had been 
positively affected in between 60% and 100% of women with that need, with 7 of the 
9 pathways showing over 75% improvement. 

4.1.10 The review group also heard evidence that having an evidence-based intervention for 
women was important as female offenders can have different, complex needs 
compared to the male offenders who form the significant majority of most 
organisations’ client base.  Women offenders are more likely to suffer from drug 
problems, and significantly more likely to suffer from mental disorders; they are also 
more likely to have emotional or relationship needs, or to have suffered sexual or 
physical abuse (whether as a child or an adult) and to require assertiveness 
support.45

25

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
42 Park & Ward; Pro Bono Economics, St Giles Trust’s Through the Gates: an Analysis of Economic 
Impact (Pro Bono Economics, 2009). 
43 John Loder, Geoff Mulgan, Neil Reeder & Anton Shelupanov, Financing Social Value: Implementing 
Social Impact Bonds (London: The Young Foundation, 2010); Social Finance, Social Impact Bonds: 
Rethinking Finance for Social Outcomes (London: Social Finance, 2009). 
44 Eilís Lawlor, Jeremy Nicholls and Lisa Sanfilippo, Unlocking Value: How we all Benefit from 
Investing in Alternatives to Prison for Women Offenders (London: New Economics Foundation, 2008). 
45 NOMS East of England; Harper, Man, Taylor & Niven, pp. 23-24. 

Page 32



Recommendation 17.i – The review group commends the evidence-based approach 
of organisations like the One Service and the Dawn Project. 

Recommendation 17.ii – The review group notes that the Dawn Project’s Ministry of 
Justice funding is set to run out in March 2011; it recommends that commissioners 
do not allow the county to go without good provision for female offenders. 

4.1.11 One important aspect of rationing will be ensuring that offenders do not continue to 
receive intensive interventions after the point at which this intensive resource could, 
with more likely benefit, be used on another offender. 

4.1.12 Deselection criteria for the IOM scheme have not yet been set.46 There is, however, 
a recognition that IOM needs to be ‘quicker on and off’ than PPO was.47

4.1.13 As noted in paragraphs 2.1.7 and 3.2.7-9 above, a key challenge for the PPO 
scheme was the fact that it kept offenders for longer than planned, and, probably, for 
longer than justified. Part of the solution was to be IOM’s ability to offer a lower-
intensity intervention such that PPOs could be safely moved from the higher-intensity 
PPO-style programme. 

4.1.14 A manager within Probation, however, suggested to the review group that 
interventions offered to offenders who would not have qualified for PPO but are part 
of IOM might not be ‘less’ than those PPO used to offer, but ‘just different’. The 
review group recognises there may be some instances in which ‘non-PPO IOMs’ 
might benefit equally from ‘PPO-strength’ interventions. They are concerned, 
however that if PPO-strength interventions are regularly offered to non-PPO IOMs, 
the benefit of providing somewhere less resource-intensive for ex-PPOs to go will be 
lost.

Recommendation 18 – Deselection criteria should be a priority interest in the 
creation of the IOM scheme. They should emphasise passing on resource when it 
could be better used elsewhere, even where practitioners are not certain that the 
offender currently receiving that resource would no longer benefit from it at all.  

Recommendation 19 – There should be a sliding scale of strengths of intervention 
available through IOM, based on the likely benefit gained from resources. This is 
likely to generally correlate with lighter interventions targeted towards less 
prolific/less serious offenders. The appropriate level of intervention should be 
regularly re-appraised, and should be expected to change over the course of an 
offender’s time on the scheme. 

ACCOMMODATION
5.1.1 Factors predisposing to crime are conventionally understood as ‘criminogenic needs’, 

and categorised for analysis. The system is used with individual offenders by giving 

26

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
46 Goose, IOM Progress in the East of England.
47 Goose, IOM in Cambridgeshire: Project Brief.!

Page 33



them a score on each factor, on a sliding scale. For research, a boundary score is 
defined such that offenders either ‘have’ or ‘do not have’ each factor. 

5.1.2 Accommodation is not one of the most common factors among offenders; nor is it 
one of the factors most strongly predisposing to re-offence.48 The review group 
found, however, that it is strongly linked to many of the most significant factors, such 
as education, training and employment (ETE) and lifestyle & associates, because 
getting a job, and freeing oneself from an unhelpful lifestyle can rely on stable 
accommodation. Moreover, those offenders most likely to reoffend are 2½ times as 
likely to have a housing need as offenders as a whole.49

5.1.3 The criminogenic needs, including accommodation, of offenders in Cambridgeshire 
are shown in Figures 3, 4 and 5 below. 

Criminogenic Need By judgement (all assessment types)

0.00%
10.00%
20.00%
30.00%
40.00%
50.00%
60.00%
70.00%
80.00%
90.00%

100.00%

Acc
ommod

atio
n ETE

Finan
ce

Rela
tio

nsh
ips

Life
Styl

es
Drug

s

Alco
hol

Emotio
nal W

ell-B
eing

Think
ing

Attit
ud

es

Fig 3 – The criminogenic needs of offenders in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough being managed in 
the community 

Custody cases - Criminogenic Need By judgement (all assessment types)

0.00%
10.00%
20.00%
30.00%
40.00%
50.00%
60.00%
70.00%
80.00%
90.00%

100.00%

Acc
om

m
od

at
ion ETE

Fi
na

nc
e

Rela
tio

ns
hi
ps

Lif
eS

ty
les

Dru
gs

Alco
ho

l

Em
ot
ion

al 
W

ell
-B

ei
ng

Th
ink

in
g

Attit
ud

es

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
48 Harper & Chitty, p. x; Harper, Man, Taylor & Niven, p. 18. 

27

!

49 Suzanne McBride, Trevor Baker & Trish Reed, The Housing and Support Needs of (Ex-)Offenders 
in Cambridge and the Cambridge Sub-Region: a Report for the Cambridge Homelessness Strategy 
Offender Task Group (Heron Consulting, 2010), p. 6.!

Page 34



Fig 4 – The criminogenic needs of offenders in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough being 
managed in custody 

PPO Registered Offenders

0.00%
20.00%
40.00%
60.00%
80.00%

100.00%
120.00%

A
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n

E
T

E

F
in

an
ce

R
el

at
io

ns
hi

ps

Li
fe

S
ty

le
s

D
ru

gs

A
lc

oh
ol

E
m

ot
io

na
l W

el
l-

B
ei

ng T
hi

nk
in

g

A
tti

tu
de

s

Factor

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 O

ff
en

d
er

s

Fig 5 – The criminogenic needs of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’s PPO Cohorts 

5.1.4 The group heard strong and widespread professional and academic support for the 
idea that accommodation is a key need. Professor Gelsthorpe felt that a project’s 
ability to fulfill accommodation needs was a key determinant of its success. Workers 
on the St Giles Trust’s Through the Gates project in London also noted that 
accommodation was key.50 One manager in an offender management programme 
thought it was one of the top criminogenic needs. While this differs from the bulk of 
research, it was informative that this was what the worker believed: it emphasised to 
the group the real-life importance of fulfilling offenders’ accommodation needs. 

5.1.5 Nationally, accommodation needs are not well-provided for. Offenders suffer from the 
same shortages of accommodation that others do, and face additional difficulties 
meeting criteria for tenancies, affording private rented accommodation and being 
perceived by landlords as suitable tenants.51 The 2001 Resettlement Survey found 
that around a third of prisoners had nowhere to live upon release from prison.52 Local 
Authorities often fail to explicitly consider offenders in their housing strategies.53

Other IOM projects, such as that in Bolton, have felt that accommodation provision is 
a key gap in their work.54

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
50 Park & Ward, p. 21. 
51 Penfold et al., pp. 14-15. 
52 Elliott-Marshall, Ramsay & Stewart, p. 63. 
53 McBride, Baker & Reed, p. 12. 

28

!

54 Lawson. 

Page 35



5.1.6 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough struggles to meet offenders’ needs.55 The group 
heard, however, from groups such as CAMEO, who work in both areas, that 
Peterborough’s provision is less problematic. 

5.1.7 The review group heard that the Wide Market Rental Area limit on Housing Benefit 
means that it is almost impossible for offenders to find accommodation within 
Cambridge itself where market rents are high in relation to this artificial limit.  

5.1.8 The One Service told the group that, where Housing Benefit fell short of covering an 
offender’s rent, they did not consider offering it to them unless a family member had 
offered to cover the difference. The need to somehow ‘find’ even an extra £5 or £10 
per week could provoke a return to acquisitive crime. 

Recommendation 20 – The Review Group requests that the County Council writes 
to the Secretary of State asking for a review of the Wide Area Market Rent Limit as 
it affects higher market rent areas such as Cambridge. 

5.1.9 The group heard from various witnesses, including Cambridgeshire County Council 
staff and those working for organisations providing services to offenders, that 
provision in Cambridgeshire tends to be very large-scale and that this is undesirable 
because large-scale projects tend to be more anonymous and are less able to give 
offenders individual attention. 

5.1.10 Moreover, large-scale housing projects can locate more offenders in one place, 
making it easier for negative networks of associates to arise. One ex-offender told 
the review group that he had addressed his offending and drug problems in a large 
housing project by shutting himself in his room and deliberately avoiding the society 
of other tenants. Other ex-offenders, interviewed by Heron Consulting for Cambridge 
City Council portrayed such large housing developments as ineffective, with too-
prevalent drug problems; they preferred smaller schemes.56

5.1.11 The group visited a large housing project, the YMCA, and a smaller one, the 
Cambridge Youth Foyer. While the former did feel more anonymous and institutional, 
the group recognised the importance of the work being done there. The group 
appreciated the chance to see the Youth Foyer in action, appreciating its 
effectiveness, though recognising that it is resource-intensive. 

Recommendation 21 – The review group does not presume to determine what the 
‘right’ sort of housing provision is. It should be ensured, however, that the type of 
housing intervention used is appropriate to the client in question, and that housing 
projects are regularly evaluated, including value-for-money assessments which 
take into account their success rates (coupled, of course, with a recognition that 
different projects deal with different client groups).

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

29

!

55 Chris Mackett, Integrated Offender Management Provision in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
(2010).!
56 McBride, Baker & Reed, p. 53. 

Page 36



5.1.12 The group heard that even housing providers who say they take offenders can be 
reluctant to house them in practice. In particular, a youth housing worker told the 
group that the most complex offenders sometimes struggle to find accommodation at 
all.

5.1.13 The East of England Supporting People Strategy 2008-2011 argues in favour of 
intensive, specialised housing provision for this group; so too do service users 
themselves.57

Recommendation 22.i – Specialised housing provision should be available for 
those offenders facing the most problems, including mental health problems. 

Recommendation 22.ii – There should, in general, be greater housing availability. 

5.1.14 The group heard strong evidence that the ability of offenders to move away from a 
location where they have a criminal past is valuable. Professor Sherman cited a 
study examining re-offending rates in which 25% of offenders returning to their prior 
home re-offended, compared with 11% of those who moved. Similarly, he noted, 
whether one returned to one’s previous home was a good predictor of whether 
juvenile delinquents posted abroad during World War II continued in a criminal career 
upon their return. 

5.1.15 Within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and elsewhere, authorities tend to have 
‘local connection policies’, which insist housing priority will be given to those with a 
connection to the area. In practice, due to the scarcity of housing generally, this 
means that public- and some voluntary-sector housing is near-enough unavailable to 
those not from the area. 

5.1.16 Luminus staff told of their frustration at not being able to keep working with offenders 
doing well in one location because no housing was available, and being forced to 
send them back to areas where they had a criminal past. 

5.1.17 The group recognised that local connection policies were brought in, in most 
instances, for laudable reasons: Cambridge City wanted to ensure the maintenance 
of public support for provision for homeless people, something they felt they may 
jeopardise if large numbers of people from other large cities continued to come to the 
City. Given that relocation works, however, they felt it would be unfortunate if such 
policies could not be made more flexible. 

30

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

5.1.18 The group discussed the possibility of a ‘swapping’ arrangement, in which a number 
of offenders are exchanged between similar districts in different areas: those 
offenders have a better chance of escaping offending, and localities have the same 
number of offenders as before, but ones who should be easier to manage. The 
review group understood that expecting offenders to move from a city to a rural area 
or vice versa might be unrealistic. Accordingly, this reinforced its preference for 
arrangements to be made at a housing authority (i.e., district) level rather than at the 
level of the County. 

!
57 McBride, Baker & Reed, p. 10; 53. 

Page 37



5.1.19 A manager at Luminus emphasised that, were this to happen, openness and honesty 
about offenders’ levels of engagement would be necessary to ensure that a fair deal 
for all. 

Recommendation 23 – Districts should form agreements with other districts 
elsewhere in the country, whereby a number of offenders who wish to leave their 
current area are ‘swapped’ each year, and management responsibilities handed 
over, to help offenders make a fresh start in a new environment. 

5.1.20 The review group recognised how much harder it is for services to provide for those 
returning from a far-off dispersal prison if their needs are only addressed after 
release. The group acknowledges that the above recommendations are more 
challenging, but suggests they are also more important, for this group. 

MENTAL HEALTH
6.1.1 50% of prisoners have three co-occurring mental health conditions.58 The group also 

heard that 70% have at least two such conditions, but only 10% have a formal 
diagnosis. It has been emphasised elsewhere that mental health provision is central 
to the effective management of prisoners and offenders.59

6.1.2 The review group heard that, while things were improving, there had been historical 
problems with the integration of mental health into offender management systems, 
and that they were currently less integrated than some other organisation.60 They 
also heard evidence from NHS Cambridgeshire (for example) that noted with 
admirable candour that, under the pressure of targets elsewhere, services for 
offenders had not been a top priority for the organisation. 

Recommendation 24 – Mental health should be seen as central to the management 
of offenders; offenders should be seen as a key constituency for mental health 
care. Mental health representation must be at the heart of IOM just as, for example, 
the police are. This should extend to co-located workers and representation at IOM 
meetings.

6.1.3 The review group recognised the hard work which has been done to integrate mental 
health further into offender management systems, which has culminated in the 
Clinical Director of CPFT, the county’s provider trust, sitting on IOM Strategic 
Meetings.

31

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

6.1.4 Several managers from Probation told the review group that referring clients in to 
mental health services could be very difficult. While many (not all) Probation Officers 
were aware that the designated route in was through an offender’s GP, the review 
group heard that this was not always possible or appropriate. Offenders may not be 
registered with a GP (and may be reluctant to register), or may struggle to attend 

!
58 Mulheirn, Gough & Menne. 
59 Lord Bra ley, The Bradley Report: Lord Bradley’s Review of People with Mental Health Problems or 
Learning Disabilities in the Criminal Justice System (London: COI, 2009). 

d

60 Mackett.!

Page 38



appointments at designated times. They may also find GPs reluctant to refer 
offenders on for mental health treatment. 

6.1.5 Probation’s Trust Development Manager told the group that she had spoken with 
mental health representatives about this issue, and had been told that the ideal was 
to keep offenders out of the service, to avoid their becoming stuck in an 
institutionalised mental health system, rather than being able to recover without 
formal acute-sector treatment. The Trust Development Manger gave this response 
credit.

6.1.6 A senior manager at CPFT appreciated the challenges Probation Officers (and others 
working with offenders) face when using conventional referral pathways, and 
expressed willingness to re-examine pathways in this context. So too, a 
commissioning manager for mental health services at NHS Cambridgeshire was 
open to more direct referral pathways, so long as due consideration could be given to 
which referrals were appropriate, and so long as staff were properly trained to make 
a referral. To facilitate this was ‘common sense’. 

Recommendation 25.i – There should be clear pathways for the mental health care 
of offenders, which do not rely on GP referral. 

Recommendation 25.ii – The mental health representation on IOM called for in 
Recommendation 24 above should be used to help with decisions regarding 
referral.

Recommendation 25.iii – In the absence of this representation, there should be 
direct referral pathways from IOM workers into mental health. 

6.1.7 The review group heard, from sources within Probation and CPFT of the significant 
contribution made by a worker who spent time in both Cambridgeshire Probation and 
the Addenbrooke’s Complex Cases Unit, which treats complex personality disorders.  

6.1.8 This ‘link worker’ was able, through informal conversations with Probation 
colleagues, to progressively inform the Service on personality disorders, enabling 
quicker recognition and facilitating referral. Sometimes, she could see clients directly 
in Probation to assist with personality disorder problems; at others, she could simply 
advise the Probation Officers working with them. 

6.1.9 At the same time, she was able to use her links with the Complex Cases Unit to draw 
on resources that were previously inaccessible to Probation. For example, when 
junior psychiatrists were asked by the link worker, who had developed a relationship 
with them, whether they would be interested in assisting with Probation clients, they 
were keen to take part in an exciting opportunity. Where it had once been difficult to 
access mental health professionals for this client group, once relationships had been 
developed through the link worker model, there were in fact more volunteers than 
could be accommodated.  

32

!

Page 39



Recommendation 26 – The link worker model works, and should be extended. The 
review group welcomes the prospect of funding for a Probation-mental health link 
worker in Cambridgeshire and in Peterborough. 

6.1.10 Provision of assistance to those with mental health needs at the point of arrest is 
important.61 The group heard that a pilot was underway in Huntingdonshire to check 
the mental health records of all consenting people brought into custody to provide 
support if necessary. 

Recommendation 27 – There should be a thorough review of practices to ensure 
mental health access and provision at the point of arrest. This should not be 
considered an optional extra, but a key part of at-arrest procedures. 

6.1.11 The group heard of complications surrounding the commissioning of forensic mental 
health teams, including from managers at CPFT. The health care components of 
such teams are commissioned by the local Primary Care Trust (PCT): NHS 
Cambridgeshire or NHS Peterborough. The social care components are 
commissioned by the relevant local authority: Cambridgeshire County Council or 
Peterborough Unitary Authority. It should be noted that Peterborough City Council 
and NHS Peterborough have an integrated health and social care commissioning 
and operational service.  

6.1.12 In southern Cambridgeshire, including Cambridge itself, there is a service 
commissioned from both health and social care. The health care component 
operates from Cambridge. 

6.1.13 In Peterborough, only the social care component is commissioned; as the single 
member of staff this constitutes is less useful without the health care components of 
the team, at time of writing this post is currently unfilled, leaving no forensic mental 
health service. The vacant post has now been filled. 

6.1.14 In central Cambridgeshire, only the health care component is commissioned (using 
the same service as southern Cambs, operating out of Cambridge); there is no social 
care cover. Furthermore, some of the northernmost parts of Cambridgeshire do not 
receive good coverage from the Cambridge-based service. NHS Cambridgeshire told 
the review group that the reason this poor coverage remains is that they felt the best 
suggestion to cover this area was to create a Peterborough-based service to match 
the Cambridge-based team. This did not happen because NHS Peterborough did 
not, for a time, prioritise it.  

33

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
61 Bradley. 

Page 40



Recommendation 28 – The commissioning of mental health services for offenders, 
particularly of forensic mental health teams, should be joined-up. Cambridgeshire 
County Council & NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Unitary Authority & NHS 
Peterborough should liaise to ensure social care and health care provision 
matches up. 

Recommendation 29 – There is a lack of forensic mental health cover where it is 
most needed (Peterborough and Wisbech). This should not be the case. 

FURTHER WORK
7.1.1 The review group heard from the YOT ETE Coordinator and from Connexions that 

the provision of Foundation Education is vital and often well-provided. They noted 
also, however, that a recent change in the structure of some provision, from 
continuous drop-in education to 12-week courses, while well-intentioned, had led to a 
new problem: if an offender decides to engage 2 weeks in to a course, there is now a 
10-week period during which interest and motivation must be sustained before the 
service can be accessed. This is a very significant challenge, and one which a more 
continuous system does not suffer from. 

Recommendation 30.i – Long waits for the start of a Foundation Education 
programme can lead offenders to give up on the system. Foundation Education 
providers (such as Cherry Hinton Hall, the YMCA etc) should coordinate with one 
another to stagger the starts of their programmes to ensure there is always a 
programme starting soon. 

Recommendation 30.ii – Education providers should ensure there is some quick-
access ‘drop- in’ education available to buffer before the start of a fixed-term 
programme. 

7.1.2 Workers from Luminus reported to the group their difficulties securing education for 
offenders who, while not suffering from a learning disability, had difficulties with 
learning. Neither learning disabilities services nor traditional adult learning services 
are suitable for this group. This group could fall through the cracks, either not 
receiving education at all or rapidly dropping out of a service not suited to them. This 
applies, of course, to non-offenders as readily as offenders. 

Recommendation 31 – Adult learning and learning disability education should 
coordinate their eligibility criteria to ensure any given offender is eligible for, and 
suitable for, one programme or another. 

7.1.3 As shown in fig. 5 above, finance is one of the key criminogenic needs, particularly 
for PPO offenders, below only Lifestyles and Thinking. There seems to be little 
provision of services to provide offenders with assistance with their finances. The 
group heard that some wider organisations, such as Probation, used to have the 
capacity relative to their caseload to provide this to offenders, but no longer do. 
Specifically, a senior manager at Probation noted that there were no gambling 
addiction services in the county. 

34

!

Page 41



Recommendation 32 – There is a lack of services to help offenders with financial 
issues (paying bills, claiming benefits, budgeting etc) which merits further scrutiny. 

35

!

Page 42



36

!

BIBLIOGRAPHY
ad esse, Integrated Offender Management in West Midlands LCJB. (Ad Esse Consulting, 
2009).

Bradley, Lord, The Bradley Report: Lord Bradley’s Review of People with Mental Health 
Problems or Learning Disabilities in the Criminal Justice System (London: COI, 2009). 

Critchley, Ian & Holland, Jeremy, ‘Coordinating a Clean Slate with a Community Sentence’, 
presentation at Better Together: IOM Conference 2010.

Dawson, Paul & Cuppleditch, Lucy, An Impact Assessment of the Prolific and other Priority 
Offender Programme. Home Office online report 08/07 (2007) 

(Available at 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100413151441/http:/www.crimereduction.ho
meoffice.gov.uk/ppo/rdsolr0807.pdf)

[Accessed 10th September 2010]. 

Dawson, Paul & Stanko, Betsy, An Evaluation of the Diamond Initiative: Year One Findings
(London: Metropolitan Police Service & London Criminal Justice Partnership, 2010). 

Elliott-Marshall, Robin; Ramsay, Malcolm & Stewart, Duncan, ‘Alternative Approaches to 
Integrating Offenders into the Community’, in The Impact of Corrections on Re-Offending: a 
Review of ‘What Works’, ed. by Gemma Harper & Chloe Chitty, Home Office Research 
Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 2005), pp. 31-55. 

Goose, Gary, Integrated Offender Management (IOM) in Cambridgeshire: Project Brief
(2010).

Goose, Gary, Integrated Offender Management Progress in the East of England (2010) 

Goose, Gary & Hancock, Alison, CCJB Integrated Offender Management (IOM) – Update 
Position (2010) 

Harper, Gemma & Chitty, Chloe, Executive Summary to The Impact of Corrections on Re-
offending: a Review of ‘What Works’, ed. By Harper & Chitty, Home Office Research Study 
291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 2005), pp. i-xx. 

Harper, Gemma & Chitty, Chloe, eds, The Impact of Corrections on Re-Offending: A Review 
of ‘What Works’, Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 2005) 

Harper, Gemma; Man, Lan-Ho; Taylor, Sarah & Niven, Stephen, ‘Factors Associated with 
Offending’, in The Impact of Corrections on Re-Offending: a Review of ‘What Works’, ed. by 
Harper & Chloe Chitty, Home Office Research Study 291, 3rd Edition (London: Home Office, 
2005), pp. 17-30. 

Home Office, Integrated Offender Management: Government Policy Statement (London: 
COI, 2009). 

Page 43



37

!

Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offenders Programme: Five Years On – Maximising 
the Impact (London: COI, 2009). 

Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offender Strategy: Initial Guidance – Catch and 
Convict Framework ([London]: [Home Office], 2004). 

Home Office, Prolific and other Priority Offender Strategy: Supplementary Guidance – 
Rehabilitate and Resettle Framework ([London]: [Home Office], 2004). 

Lane, Bernard; Bacon, Cliff & Ross, Edna, ‘PPO & DIP within IOM’, presented at Better
Together: IOM Conference 2010.

Lawlor, Eilís; Nicholls, Jeremy and Sanfilippo, Lisa, Unlocking Value: How we all Benefit 
from Investing in Alternatives to Prison for Women Offenders (London: New Economics 
Foundation, 2008). 

Lawson, Charlotte, Integrated Offender Management Good Practice, (Leicester: Perpetuity 
Research).

Lea, Dave; Brimley, John; Bacon, Cliff & Lister, Kevin, Integrated Offender Management in 
Greater Manchester, presentation  

(Available at http://www.go-
nw.gov.uk/497468/docs/526727/879658/Spotlight_PP_3_GMP.ppt)

[Accessed 17th November 2010] 

Loder, John; Mulgan, Geoff; Reeder, Neil & Shelupanov, Anton, Financing Social Value: 
Implementing Social Impact Bonds (London: The Young Foundation, 2010). 

Lowthian, Jackie; Gartland, Louise & Wilson, Ian, ‘Third Sector Services at the Heart of 
Integrated Offender Management’, presentation at Better Together: IOM Conference 2010. 

Mackett, Chris, Integrated Offender Management Provision in Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough (2010) 

McBride, Suzanne; Baker, Trevor & Reed, Trish, The Housing and Support Needs of (Ex-
)Offenders in Cambridge and the Cambridge Sub-Region: a Report for the Cambridge 
Homelessness Strategy Offender Task Group (Heron Consulting, 2010). 

Mulheirn, Ian; Gough, Barney & Menne, Verena, Prison Break: Tackling Recidivism, 
Reducing Costs (London: The Social Market Foundation, 2010). 

NOMS East of England, East of England: Commissioning for the ‘Rehabilitation Revolution’: 
a Consultation Document (Peterborough: NOMS East of England, 2010). 

Park, Graham & Ward, Sue, Through the Gates – Improving the Effectiveness of Prison 
Discharge: First Half-Year Evaluation, August 2008 to January 2009 (London: St. Giles 
Trust, 2009). 

Penfold, Clarissa, et al., Homelessness Prevention and Meeting Housing Need for (Ex-
)Offenders: a Guide to Practice (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2009). 

Page 44



38

!

Pro Bono Economics, St Giles Trust’s Through the Gates: an Analysis of Economic Impact
(Pro Bono Economics, 2009). 

Sherman, Lawrence, et al., ‘Preventing Crime: What Works, What Doesn’t; What’s 
Promising’, National Institute of Justice: Research in Brief.

Social Finance, Social Impact Bonds: Rethinking Finance for Social Outcomes (London: 
Social Finance, 2009). 

Stevens, Martin; Hemstead, Chris & Bright, Holly, ‘The Diamond Initiative’, presented at 
Better Together: IOM Conference 2010.

Spotlight, Greater Manchester: Integrated Offender Management Toolkit (London: Home 
Office, 2010). 

Turner, Helen, memorandum regarding Integrated Offender Management (2010). 

Page 45



39

!

APPENDIX 1 – A SERVICE USER’S STORY

What follows is the story of a man who has accessed services targeted at ex-offenders. 
‘John’ is a pseudonym given to the man. The story is told as far as possible as John told it to 
us, and the text has been approved by John as a good telling of his story. 

John was, in his words, ‘a normal working guy’. He was married, and owned a four-bed 
house in a village a medium-sized settlement in Cambridgeshire. He had come from a 
middle-class background. 

John came into a problem with Class A drugs; he did some shoplifting and credit card fraud 
to fund this, and ended up in jail a few times. This caused him to lose a lot of what he had; 
he lost his house, separated from his wife, and his relationships with his family was put 
under strain. 

Following one spell in jail, John was living in a tent in an area of woodland; he continued to 
have drug problems. He was put in touch with Winter Comfort, a Cambridge charity 
providing food and support to those without homes. A worker there mentioned to him in 
passing 222 Victoria Road, an English Church Housing Group (ECHG) development. The 
worker hoped that, as John was making good progress with his problems, he might be able 
to get a space. He was indeed able to get a room there. 

While glad to have a room, and grateful for the service, John felt surrounded by those with 
drug problems. During the year and a half for which John was at 222 Victoria Road, he 
describes shutting himself away in his room and avoiding the company of other residents. 
When people came knocking, John feared to ask for help with getting drugs, he would not 
open his door. It was by doing this, John feels, that he was able to keep making progress 
with his drug problem. 

John heard from another resident about the Housing and Returning Prisoners (HARP) 
Board, which had upgraded her level of housing priority such that she would be able to get a 
house. John pursued this option with his worker at 222 Victoria Road and, after doing a lot of 
chasing himself, had an application submitted to the Board, which upgraded him to ‘A’ 
priority.

Today, John lives in a one-bedroom house accessed through the District Council. He is 
pleased with this, and is very keen to continue working to get his life back on track. He no 
longer offends, is on a methadone prescription, and is hoping to start employment soon.  

John gives others a lot of credit for the recent improvements in his life. The methadone 
prescription from Addaction, combined with his accommodation security means that he is not 
drug-dependent and has time and space to reflect on his situation and address it. He also 
highlights the importance of agencies seeming to value him enough to take the time to help 
‘as if they were interested in me’, as making it easier for him to value himself enough to 
address his problems. 

Page 46



40

!

APPENDIX B – COMMENTARY ON RECOMMENDATIONS

The recommendations in this report are for consideration by the IOM Board and the 
agencies involved, except in the cases where agencies are in bold in the summary of 
recommendations below. 

1.i – The cohort for IOM should be wider than the current cohort for PPO. 
1.ii – Specifically, it should include the more prolific of those offenders currently receiving no 
interventions because they served less than 12 months, and those who need lower-intensity 
interventions following intensive, ‘PPO-style’ work. 
2.i – Agencies should consider IOM, including non-statutory clients, as part of their core 
business.
2.ii – Agencies should ensure this perception cascades throughout their organisations. 
2.iii – The review group welcomes Probation’s commitment to taking on the cohorts of 
offenders outlined in Recommendation 1. 
2.iv – Probation and other agencies should ensure that resources are aligned to give due 
priority to these cohorts. They should ensure that this attitude is embedded within their 
working practices. This should include altering performance management arrangements as 
necessary to make certain that staff are held to account for their work with non-statutory 
offenders as they are with statutory offenders.

These ought not to be controversial in Cambridgeshire, given the comments from the various 
agencies involved. 

3.i – New IOM clients should not be treated as new cohort of ‘IOMs’ alongside cohorts of 
‘PPOs’, ‘DIPs’ and ‘MAPPAs’. Rather, once MAPPA and DIP have been separated out, IOM 
should treat all its remaining clients (that is, those formerly classed as ‘PPOs’, plus those 
new clients IOM expands its cohort to include) as one continuous cohort. There should be a 
sliding scale of interventions available, to be individually tailored to an offender’s needs. 

There is a real choice for the IOM programme between simply creating a new cohort of 
offenders who are ‘quite persistent and quite prolific’ but not as persistent and prolific as 
those in the PPO scheme or creating a more dynamic set of criteria that could better 
facilitate paths into and out of intensive interventions. Given the issues around how long 
offenders stay within PPO without a successful ‘glide path’ out of intensive intervention, we 
favour the latter. 

Recommendation 3.ii – Cambridgeshire’s IOM should use a single governance structure. 
This structure, however, should be flexible enough to allow districts to pursue local priorities 
within IOM. 
Recommendation 3.iii – It is neither likely to be appropriate that a fixed , equivalent number 
of IOM clients are found in each district, regardless of the severity of that district’s problems, 
nor that exactly the same thresholds for selection are used in each district, even if that 
leaves some almost entirely unserved by IOM. The review group recommends that a 
balance be struck between allocating IOM resources to the most prolific offenders in the 
county and ensuring all districts are served. 

In the first place, we favour establishing a single model of governance for IOM within 
Cambridgeshire so that the methods of interaction between agencies are common across 

Page 47



41

!

the county. We believe however that this model should allow for diversity between districts in 
the relative priorities of the cohorts and the interventions. We are in no position to take a 
view on whether this single model should remain in place beyond the first few years. 

4 – Agencies, including but not limited to Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) should 
recognise the potential benefits of an IOM approach. 

We state unequivocally that we believe an IOM approach to offender management is 
beneficial and good value for money. We particularly call on Fenland CSP to recognise the 
long-term potential of better-integrated rehabilitation services for reducing reoffending rates 
and thus crime levels in their area. 

5 – IOM should feature regular case management meetings to discuss offenders. These 
should bring together the agencies involved in providing services for those offenders. 
Meetings should be organised, as far as possible, to ensure agencies can attend those 
cases relevant to them without spending unnecessary time in discussions about other cases. 

A unified case-management system is a good idea.  

6 – The governance structure described in Recommendation 3.ii should act as a forum for 
strategic discussion of offender management services and interaction between agencies. It 
should be publicised to relevant agencies. 
7 – The review group commends the current creation of a directory of interventions as a 
priority. The group looks forward to its publication, and urges all agencies to proactively 
cooperate to ensure they are included. 

Although these recommendations seem innocuous, they are oft talked about but little 
implemented. As a result professionals struggle to connect offenders to the most appropriate 
interventions.

8.i – Recognising the importance of the joint working of statutory bodies too, the review 
group recommends that the involvement of non-statutory and third sector organisations 
should be seen as a priority. 
8.ii – The review group notes that, in the course of this review, it has come across many third 
sector organisations with great energy and drive, and with a well-evidenced approach. The 
group anticipates that, with a small amount of effort and accommodation on the part of 
offender management services, more bodies like this can be found to valuably complement 
the options currently available. 

There is so much energy in many parts of the voluntary sector that deliver fresh-thinking, 
innovation and commitment. Importantly they also seem to provide good outcomes and good 
value for money. The statutory providers, especially Probation, need to embrace this culture 
rather than defend the status quo. 

9 – The review group believes that there are very considerable benefits to be gained by the 
co-location of services, including, but not limited to, police, probation, mental health and 
drugs services. Partnership without co-location will not bring the same benefits.  

Co-location of the essential agencies in one building is the single most important 
recommendation of this Review. Without this, ‘partnership’ between agencies is simply an 

Page 48



42

!

additional layer of meetings. With co-location, professional staff are able to liaise on a 
practical day-to-day basis with significant benefits for efficiency and good judgement. 

10.i – Prisoners should be able to begin the process for claiming Job Seekers’ Allowance 
while they are in prison, so that the first benefit payment arrives at the end of the first week 
after release. 

Notwithstanding the pending reform of benefits, the coalition government must change the 
JSA system at the earliest opportunity so that the process of claiming JSA can be started 
while an offender is still in prison. 

10.ii - Prisoners should similarly be able to apply for Employment Support Allowance in 
advance of their release. They should be able to get medical problems certified by the prison 
doctor rather than waiting for release. 

The ESA system is so inaccessible and delay-ridden that it needs wholesale reform. 
However, we presume this cannot done in time to be implemented prior to the ESA’s 
abolition in the benefits review. Prisons should strive to ensure prisoners have all necessary 
documentation before release. 

11.i – The Prison Service should be centrally involved in IOM 
11.ii – IOM should be an opportunity for all agencies, including prisons to receive feedback 
on their clients and interventions from other agencies 
11.iii – Prisons should routinely calculate expected dates of release as early as possible, and 
communicate them to prisoners’ needs assessment meetings. Subsequent changes to this 
date should be avoided, and, in any event, should be communicated to IOM.  
11.iv – Unexpected release on a Friday should only take place where it is genuinely 
unavoidable. 

We hope that the Home Office and Prison Service will take note of this recommendation. 
We believe there is real marginal benefit to be gained from greater efficiency at assessing 
the release date early in a prisoner’s sentence, sticking to it and ensuring that IOM agencies 
are kept fully-informed of the release date. The cost involved in getting this right ought to be 
tiny, while the benefits ought to be measurable, even if not huge. 

12 – Link workers are a valuable tool for all agencies because they give a named individual 
responsibility for keeping up links with a particular sector. The review group recognises that 
some bodies which provide services to offenders will not be part of every IOM meeting. 
Where this is the case, the group recommends IOM itself give a named IOM worker 
particular responsibility for liaising with that organisation/group of organisations. For 
example, if not all education providers attend IOM meetings regularly, there should be an 
IOM worker with particular responsibility for liaising with education providers. 

This may look innocuous but the alternative option is that all staff be generalists with no-one 
taking specific responsibility for aspects within IOM. Our review finds knowing the name of 
specialists in other agencies leads to better outcomes. 

13 – The review group does not presume to determine who should be the case managers in 
IOM. Rather, it suggests that this should be discussed directly and openly between all 
interested bodies. 

Page 49



43

!

In the face of countervailing theories, the review group had too little evidence to take a view. 
The issue is however important and needs addressing by the IOM board. 

14 – All agencies involved in IOM, while continuing to focus on engagement with other 
organisations, should remember the importance of engaging internally and getting staff not 
specifically assigned to IOM on board with its work. 

This seems uncontroversial but would seem to have greatest implications for the Police.

15 – All budget-holding agencies should produce clear frameworks for deciding what 
services are provided to whom and in what quantity. Such frameworks should be evidence-
based and robustly linked to outcomes. 
18 – Deselection criteria should be a priority interest in the creation of the IOM scheme. 
They should emphasise passing on resource when it could be better used elsewhere, even 
where practitioners are not certain that the offender currently receiving that resource would 
no longer benefit from it at all. 
19 – There should be a sliding scale of strengths of intervention available through IOM, 
based on the likely benefit gained from resources. This is likely to generally correlate with 
lighter interventions targeted towards less prolific/less serious offenders. The appropriate 
level of intervention should be regularly re-appraised, and should be expected to change 
over the course of an offender’s time on the scheme. 

Almost all agencies seemed unclear as to whether different levels of service should be 
provided within a given cohort. When budgets are to be so tight, we would prefer to see a 
greater recognition of different levels of service based not only on different levels of need but 
on the different likely benefits of providing such a service. In offender management, 
offenders have never had equal rights to the same level of rehabilitation and we should not 
design or provide services as if they do. The money should be used to generate the greatest 
benefit to society in terms of reducing the levels and harm of crime. 

16.i – Agencies providing interventions should regularly and routinely evaluate their 
programmes, including their value for money. Agencies funding interventions should expect 
this level of evidence-based evaluation and provide advice necessary to achieve it. 
16.ii – While some existing projects might struggle to fulfill R16.i in the short term, it should 
be considered a medium-term priority, and all new projects should provide the evaluations 
R16.i describes. 
17.i – The review group commends the evidence-based approach of organisations like the 
One Service and the Dawn Project. 
17.ii – The review group notes that the Dawn Project’s Ministry of Justice funding is set to 
run out in March 2011; it recommends that commissioners do not allow the county to go 
without good provision for female offenders. 

There is so little evaluation done of different interventions. This has to change if the taxpayer 
is to get even close to maximum value for money. There is no shortage of willing evaluators, 
especially given Cambridge University’s Institute of Criminology. Greatly increased 
monitoring and evaluation of programmes will help them adapt and improve. The state 
sector must be alert to this if it is not to lose out to the more adept voluntary sector 
organisations whose very dependence exists on proving their value. 

Page 50



44

!

20 – The Review Group requests that the County Council writes to the Secretary of State 
asking for a review of the Wide Market Rental Area limit as it affects higher market rent 
areas such as Cambridge. 

A recommendation for the County Council itself. The Wide Market Rental Area limit is a 
real and unnecessary problem for dealing with offenders successfully in Cambridge. 

21 – The review group does not presume to determine what the ‘right’ sort of housing 
provision is. It should be ensured, however, that the type of housing intervention used is 
appropriate to the client in question, and that housing projects are regularly evaluated, 
including value-for-money assessments which take into account their success rates 
(coupled, of course, with a recognition that different projects deal with different client 
groups).
22.i – Specialised housing provision should be available for those offenders facing the most 
problems, including mental health problems. 
22.ii – There should, in general, be greater housing availability. 

Housing was seen as the single biggest problem facing offenders coming out of prison. We 
urge the government to allow a greater supply of housing to be built. 

23 – Districts should form agreements with other districts elsewhere in the country, whereby 
a number of offenders who wish to leave their current area are ‘swapped’ each year, and 
management responsibilities handed over, to help offenders make a fresh start in a new 
environment. 

We hope that District Councils, in collaboration with other agencies, will develop 
relationships with similar districts elsewhere in the country to swap offenders so that they 
can be resettled away from existing, unhelpful friends. 

24 – Mental health should be seen as central to the management of offenders; offenders 
should be seen as a key constituency for mental health care. Mental health representation 
must be at the heart of IOM just as, for example, the police are. This should extend to co-
located workers and representation at IOM meetings. 
25.i – There should be clear pathways for the mental health care of offenders, which do not 
rely on GP referral. 
25.ii – The mental health representation on IOM called for in Recommendation 24 above 
should be used to help with decisions regarding referral. 
25.iii – In the absence of this representation, there should be direct referral pathways from 
IOM workers into mental health. 
26 – The link worker model works, and should be extended. The review group welcomes the 
prospect of funding for a Probation-mental health link worker in Cambridgeshire and in 
Peterborough.
27 – There should be a thorough review of practices to ensure mental health access and 
provision at the point of arrest. This should not be considered an optional extra, but a key 
part of at-arrest procedures. 
28 – The commissioning of mental health services for offenders, particularly of forensic 
mental health teams, should be joined-up. Cambridgeshire County Council & NHS 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Unitary Authority & NHS Peterborough should liaise to 
ensure social care and health care provision matches up. 

Page 51



45

!

29 – There is a lack of forensic mental health cover where it is most needed (Peterborough 
and Wisbech). This should not be the case. 

The easy availability of mental health care for offenders was seen by the Review as the most 
shocking failure of service provision within Cambridgeshire (though we have little reason to 
think Cambs is worse than elsewhere). With so many offenders suffering from poor mental 
health we insist that mental health become a core part of the IOM schema. 

30.i – Long waits for the start of a Foundation Education programme can lead offenders to 
give up on the system. Foundation Education providers (such as Cherry Hinton Hall, the 
YMCA etc) should coordinate with one another to stagger the starts of their programmes to 
ensure there is always a programme starting soon. 
30.ii – Education providers should ensure there is some quick-access ‘drop- in’ education 
available to buffer before the start of a fixed-term programme. 
31 – Adult learning and learning disability education should coordinate their eligibility criteria 
to ensure any given offender is eligible for, and suitable for, one programme or another. 

Education for offenders provided by Cherry Hinton Hall and the YMCA seemed to suffer 
from some unnecessary difficulties, which we hope these recommendations will address.  

32 – There is a lack of services to help offenders with financial issues (paying bills, claiming 
benefits, budgeting etc) which merits further scrutiny. 

Page 52



 
South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder 

Reduction Partnership 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance Report 
 

Q3 – 2010-11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Page 53



 
County Council Quarter 3 Performance Report to be tabled. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Priority 1: Reducing Serious Acquisitive Crime 
 
1.1  Quarterly Progress Report 
 
Priority Area: Serious Acquisitive Crime – Q3 
  
Lead Officer: Ch Insp. Dave Sargent 

 
 
Key Achievements during this Quarter1 
 

 
• Funding applications for SSCF funding for vehicle crime and burglary projects for £4,500 

and £5,000 respectively were successful.  As a result 3 vehicle crime events were held in 
December; over 2000 people were consulted. 

• 4 people were arrested and 4 search warrants executed as a result of the SSCF grant. 
• 62% reduction in vehicle crime compared to same period last year due to police 

operation funded by SSCF grant.  
• Trap car in process of being updated and will be utilised by end of March 2011. 
 

 
Areas of Concern for Partnership to Note2 

 
• Future of task group remit may change at the detriment to vehicle crime as the new 

priority is to reduce burglary not serious acquisitive crime (SAC). 
• Lack of admin support due to budgetary cuts. 
 
 

 
Recommendations to Partnership to Address Concerns3 
 
• Agree to keep SAC as task group focus.  
• Make decisions regarding future funding taking into account effect on task group. 

 
 
Any Items for Publicity4 
 
• Press releases sent before and after vehicle crime events. 
• Article in South Cambs magazine regarding vehicle crime events and advice about 

reducing vehicle crime. 

                                                 
1 Please ensure that you only highlight those notable achievements recorded against your Task Group’s 
Action Plan. 
2 Please ensure that you only highlight those concerns that your Task Group considers should be drawn to 
the attention of the Partnership. 
3 Please ensure that, in connection with the above Areas of Concern, your Task Group sets out its 
Recommendations to the Partnership to address these Concerns, so that agreement can be made (where 
appropriate). 
4 Please ensure that any items included here for Publicity are not protectively marked. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 
 
Priority 1:  Action plan for reducing Serious Acquisitive Crime in the District 
 
Action Milestones Lead 

agency 
Other 
partners 

Q3 Update 
1.1 CDRP to operate a 
dynamic and informed multi 
agency Serious Acquisitive 
Crime Task Group focusing 
on issues of dwelling 
burglary and vehicle crime, 
and ensure consistent and 
energetic engagement at a 
local level. 
 

1.1a Group to meet monthly and share information about 
dwelling burglary and vehicle crime, including police 
fortnightly analysis updates to identify areas requiring 
attention and inform the direction of partnership initiatives 
1.1b Police to share with relevant partners updates of the 
dwelling burglary and vehicle crime priorities being managed 
under the Police Level 1 Tactical Tasking and Co-ordination 
Group process, including successes and learning for the 
wider group 
1.1c Specific information sharing protocols in place to 
manage the exchange of relevant personal information 
between the police and partner agencies, formulated on an 
identified needs basis. 
1.1d SAC Task Group to consider and review the Vigilance 
programme activities undertaken within Cambridge City and 
ensure lessons to be learnt are incorporated into task group 
processes.  

Police – CI 
Dave 
Sargent 

Police 
Authority, 
Fire & 
Rescue 
Service,  
SCDC 
Community 
Safety, 
Trading 
Standards 
 
 
 

Reports received 
from Police 
representative 
 
Group continues to 
meet and shares 
information 
 
Revised ISA agreed 
in May 2010. 

1.2 Address known serious 
acquisitive crime offenders 
through the PPO scheme 
 

See Priority 2 Action Plan for more information    

P
age 56



1.3 Provide support and 
advice to residents about 
keeping their property 
secure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.3a Encourage members of the community to register on e-
cops and NHW schemes and distribute regular crime 
prevention messages through these communication 
channels.  To assess the numbers registering and expansion 
or setting up of schemes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Police 
 
SAC Task 
Group – 
Rachel Carr 
 
Police 
SCDC 
SAC Task 
Group – 
Bridget 
Fairley 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SAC Task 
Group 

- The number of 
people in South 
Cambs who are 
registered on Ecops 
= 3089 
- The number of 
people in South 
Cambs who are 
registered to NHW = 
444  
- The number of 
people in South 
Cambs that have 
registered to Ecops 
between Oct and 
Dec 2010 = 111 
- The number of 
people in South 
Cambs that have 
registered to NHW 
between Oct and 
Dec 2010 = 4  
- The number of 
messages on 
average that have 
been sent to South 
Cambs residents 
between Oct and 
Dec 2010 = 28 
approximately  
- The number of 
messages that have 
been sent to South 
Cambs NHW Co-
ordinators between 
Oct and Dec = 126 

P
age 57



 1.3b Distribute relevant crime prevention information at 
community safety events; Neighbourhood Panel meetings; 
ecops and to Parish Councils 
 

  October: 
Neighbourhood 
Surgery Histon - 
Walk in burglaries/ 
Halloween, 
November:  
 
Engage Live 
Distraction Burglary  
Event for local 
Primary schools.  
 
Vehicle crime 
events 3 in 
December: 
Cambourne, Bar Hill 
& Milton. December:  
 
Student Safety 
Event Cambridge 
Regional College,  
 
Neighbourhood 
Panel Meeting 
Sawston Sector Jan 
2011 info. 
Distraction Burglary 
 

 1.3c Maintain effective communications through the delivery 
of seasonal crime prevention messages and good news 
stories through the media, South Cambs Magazine, and 
Police website 

  2 press releases 
sent before and 
after vehicle crime 
events.  Article in 
Spring edition of 
South Cambs 
magazine relating to 
vehicle crime. 

P
age 58



1.4 To facilitate the target 
hardening of the most 
vulnerable households in the 
district 

1.4a Promotion of and active referrals into the countywide 
Bobby Scheme to deliver home security improvements to the 
elderly and vulnerable 
1.4b Assist vulnerable individuals in accessing relevant 
support services through the promotion of, and active 
referrals into the Cambridgeshire Homeshield scheme 
1.4c Manage, monitor and evaluate the delivery process of 
Partnership funded property marking solutions, including the 
procurement and storage of the supplies and number of 
premises registered.   
 
 

Police 
Shrievalty 
Trust 
All CDRP 
Partner 
Agencies 
NI16 
Delivery 
Group and  
SAC Task 
Group 

 Burglaries -  6 
Distraction 
burglaries  -  0    
Attempted 
burglaries - 2 
Pro active calls –35 
 
No data available. 
 
Report completed.  
Recommendations 
taken on board. 

1.5 To facilitate the target 
hardening of the most 
vulnerable areas for vehicle 
crime in the district 

1.5a Commission a piece of research into vehicle crime 
activity and potential interventions and take appropriate 
action in response to findings and recommendations 

SAC Task 
Group 
  
 

County 
Council 
Crime 
Research 
Team 
 

Detailed report 
received from Ian 
Hudson/Mike Soper 
on vehicle crime 
which formed basis 
of funding bid. 

P
age 59



1.6 Combat Distraction 
Burglars and Rogue Traders 

1.6a Respond to calls from residents concerned about rogue 
traders 
1.6b Work with local communities to prevent residents 
becoming victims of rogue traders and distraction burglary 
1.6c Work with SAC Task Group to consider establishing No 
Cold Calling Zones in the District, based upon criteria and 
where required to reduce doorstep crime 
1.6d Ensure CDRP representation and involvement at 
Countywide Distraction Burglary group  
1.6e Ensure SAC Task Group receives updates about , and 
supports the activity conducted by the Constabulary’s 
divisional Distraction Burglary Group. 

County 
Trading 
Standards 
Service 
 
 
 
 

Police, 
SCDC 
Housing, 
Bobby 
Scheme, 
Fire 
Service 

TS service has 
during this quarter 
increased resource 
across the county to 
combat rogue 
traders. Stats not 
available on district 
response. 
 
PCSOs trained in 
providing crime 
prevention advice to 
vulnerable 
households. 
 
PCSOs trained in 
providing crime 
prevention advice to 
vulnerable 
households. 
 
Group attended by 
Rachel Carr and 
feedback received 
at task group 
meetings. 
 
Updates fed back to 
task group by 
Rachel Carr. 

P
age 60



1.7 Ensure best practice in 
crime reduction is 
considered in planning 
applications 

1.7a Consult with Police Architectural Liaison Officer on 
relevant planning applications 
1.7b Ensure that emerging South Cambridgeshire Local 
Development Framework includes clear references to crime 
reduction 

Police – CI 
Dave 
Sargent 
SCDC 
Planning & 
Sustainable 
Communities 
Service 

 Discussions 
ongoing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 61



 
Priority 2: Reducing Re-offending 
 
2.1  Quarterly Progress Report – Q3 
 
Lead Officer: Jenny Jolley 
 
 
Key Achievements during this Quarter5 
 
Scheme Updates – PPO (all 3 strands)  
 PPO DIP 
Clients on Scheme Deter: 1 

C+C and R+R: 5 
4 

New engagements 0 2 
Removals  0 0 
Crimes Saved FY2010/11 to date (please 
note each scheme currently applies a 
different formula to calculate the CSE) 

C+C: 28 crimes 
were saved to date 
in FY2010/11 (base 
level), 140 using 
the F multiplier (a 
close 
approximation to 
BCS) 

 

 
•   A PPO released following a custodial sentence for robbery with additional conditions 

applied to their Probation licence on release (including a curfew), has now successfully 
completed their licence. Full time employment has been gained and interventions with 
regard to accommodation, drug misuse and offending behaviour have been 
undertaken. No offences have been noted since release. However they will continue to 
be monitored for a further period to ensure that support is still available.  

 
• A PPO was released following a custodial sentence for burglary non dwelling and 

absconding. Home and prison visits were undertaken prior to release. Additional 
conditions were applied to their Probation licence on release (including a curfew). 
Continued monitoring of the curfew is being undertaken by the Police to provide 
enforcement. Interventions with regard to employment and leisure activities have been 
provided, along with support for the family. 

 
• A meeting was held with NACRO with regard to the contract obtained from SERCO to 

run an employment workshop - JobDeal. NACRO will provide support with such things 
as training, qualifications, attitudinal skills, life skills, disclosure, CV’s, Support gaining 
employment, for persons aged over 18 and legally able to work in the UK, living in 
Cambridge City, South Cambs and East Cambs. A referral route and information 
sharing was agreed  

 
• Interventions fund – Funding agreed to allow access to gym facilities.  This will support 

the recipient by providing a productive use of time, the opportunity for association with 
                                                 
5 Please ensure that you only highlight those notable achievements recorded against your Task Group’s 
Action Plan. 

Page 62



non-offending peers, integration into the community and benefit health and wellbeing.   
£19.00 

 
IOM Updates 
. 
The development of IOM continues with both the CCJB Strategic and CCJB Working groups 
steadily developing terms of reference, scheme vision, objectives, performance and reporting 
systems and processes.  
 
The likely model will be 2 schemes operating across the county, one in Peterborough and one 
for the rest of the county. The DIP and PPO schemes in Southern and Central Division will all 
merge and become a single scheme with 2 delivery units - one based in Cambridge and one 
based in Huntingdon. 
 
The Peterborough and Cambridgeshire schemes will have, where possible, common systems 
and processes so that there is a degree of commonality.  It is also recognised that the needs ( 
and therefore the applied interventions ) may well be different in local areas. 
 
Similarly it is recognised that there will be different priorities in the 5 CSP areas that will be 
serviced by the IOM scheme operating in Cambridgeshire-without-Peterborough. This will 
have to be incorporated into matters such as client selection and profile - but it is anticipated 
that matters such as reporting templates, information sharing agreements etc will be the same 
- thus reducing administration overheads. 
 
In December the co-ordinators and some of the practitioners met and made some 
proposals/suggestions to the IOM Project Manager for consideration into the " grand design ". 
 
The various agencies involved in service delivery are also beginning to look at the overall 
potential cohort of clients. 
 
It is quite likely that the funding for the IOM Implementation Project Manager will be extended 
for a further 6 months. 

 
 
Areas of Concern for Partnership to Note6 
 
   
Recommendations to Partnership to Address Concerns7 
 
 
Any Items for Publicity8 
 

 
 

                                                 
6 Please ensure that you only highlight those concerns that your Task Group considers should be drawn to 
the attention of the Partnership. 
7 Please ensure that, in connection with the above Areas of Concern, your Task Group sets out its 
Recommendations to the Partnership to address these Concerns, so that agreement can be made (where 
appropriate). 
8 Please ensure that any items included here for Publicity are not protectively marked. 

Page 63



South Cambridgeshire action plan for reducing reoffending in the District 
 
Action Milestones Lead CDRP 

Agency 
Other partners Update YTD 

2.1 Maintain and develop 
effective mechanisms in 
South Cambridgeshire for 
the management and review 
of local delivery of the 
reducing re-offending 
agenda 
 

2.1a CDRP Board to contribute to the development of 
offender management programmes in preparation for the 
development of an integrated approach 
 

CDRP Board 
 
Southern 
Reducing Re-
Offending 
Executive Board 
Chair 
 
CDRP Reducing 
Re-offending Lead 
Member 
 
 

 Board in 
place; 
meeting 
quarterly 

 2.1b In recognition of the CDRP’s statutory responsibility 
for reducing re-offending, to build a business case to 
broaden and develop the remit of the PPO Executive 
Board and secure the buy-in of Board members and key 
service providers 
 

 

 2.1c CDRP Chair/Reducing Re-offending Lead Officer to 
attend as an active member of the PPO Executive Board 
and Cambridgeshire Criminal Justice Board Meetings 
 

 

 2.1d CDRP to commence engagement with Drug 
Intervention Programmes to understand their contribution 
to the reducing re-offending agenda, with level of required 
information provision to be negotiated between the 
CDRP, DIP and DAAT 
 

 

P
age 64



Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
Agency 

Other partners Update YTD 

 2.1e CDRP to maintain links with Cambridgeshire 
Together and the Constabulary reducing re-offending 
thematic lead, to ensure awareness of the progress being 
made at a county-level 
 

 

2.2 Tackle the most prolific 
and damaging offenders 
through an effective Priority 
and other Prolific Offender 
(PPO) scheme 

2.2a Maintain and monitor a PPO scoring matrix with 
weighting based on identified priority crime types i.e. 
serious acquisitive crime 
 
 

Police,  
Probation Service 
and Youth 
Offending Service 
 

 PPO 
scheme 
operating 
(separate 
update sheet 
provided).  2.2b Continued identification of people who are likely to 

be prolific offenders and who are likely to be causing 
harm to the community and test the hypothesis by running 
the potential client through the PPO matrix.  Ensure this is 
reviewed on a six-monthly basis 
 

 

 2.2c Manage the transition of an offender onto a less 
intensive regime in preparation for de-selection from the 
PPO Scheme 

 

 2.2d Each PPO to be supported by a bespoke action plan 
that is agreed, written and executed as required. 
 

 

 2.2e Ensure links maintained with South Cambs ASB 
Task Group through ASB Co-ordinator.   
 

 

 2.2f Identify, through schemes such as Family 
Interventions Project, PPO and the ASB Task Group, 
young people at risk of becoming involved in anti-social 
behaviour or other types of criminal activity 
 

 

P
age 65



Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
Agency 

Other partners Update YTD 

2.3 Ensure continuity of 
support services of PPO 
Clients 

2.3a Seek to secure sustained funding for key support 
posts within the PPO scheme i.e. Support and 
Resettlement Officer and PPO Police Officer 

Reducing Re-
offending Strategic 
Board 

 Funding for 
2011 
onwards is 
unresolved 
and remains 
a concern for 
the Board. 

2.4 To develop and 
implement improved 
potential accommodation 
services for South Cambs 
based PPOs/Offenders 

2.4a To continue to develop dialogue between partners to 
set up a Cambridgeshire Offender Accommodation Forum 
to tackle accommodation issues and provide housing 
advice for offenders  
 

SCDC Housing 
 
PPO Resettlement 
Officer 
 
 

 No progress 
in Q3. 

 2.4b Ensure links maintained with South Cambs District 
Housing and Registered Social Landlords through 
Housing Officer.  To assist in the provision of appropriate 
accommodation for those in need. 

 

2.5 Facilitate lifestyle 
changes for offenders, thus 
reducing their offending 
behaviour 

2.5a Develop “Pathway to Work” scheme to support 
offenders in finding employment through liaison with Job 
Centre Plus  
 
 

Probation 
 
Southern 
Reducing Re-
Offending Scheme 
Executive Board 
Police Reducing 
Re-offending 
Thematic Lead 
 
PPO Co-ordinator 

 Work being 
taken 
forward 
through IOM 
scheme, and 
links with 
‘ONE’ 
project. 

 2.5b Establish network and linkages with Alcohol Support 
Services to work with offenders with substance misuse 
needs 

 

 2.5c Effective use of funds for targeted interventions for 
re-offenders, to provide practical and therapeutic support 
to increase positive and continued engagement with PPO 
Scheme 

 

 
 

P
age 66



Priority 3: Reduce Domestic Violence 
 
3.1  Quarterly Progress Report – Q3 
 
Priority Area:  Domestic Violence 
 
Lead Officer: CI Dave Sargent 
 
Key Achievements during this Quarter9 
 
 
• Due to high number of requests 500 domestic abuse helpline cards have been re-

printed for circulation  
• Online awareness raising publicity materials distributed to Housing Associations 
• Theatre company commissioned to deliver awareness raising sessions in secondary 

schools in Spring 2011.  The first performance will be at Bottisham Village College. 
• Southern Cambridgeshire Domestic Abuse Task Group action plan has been updated 

to incorporate new structure of task group 
 
 
Areas of Concern for Partnership to Note10 
 
•  Lack of admin support due to budgetary cuts. 

 
 
 
Recommendations to Partnership to Address Concerns11 
 
 
• Make decisions regarding future funding taking into account effect on task group. 

 
 
 
 
Any Items for Publicity12  

 
• None 

 
 

                                                 
9 Please ensure that you only highlight those notable achievements recorded against your Task Group’s 
Action Plan. 
10 Please ensure that you only highlight those concerns that your Task Group considers should be drawn 
to the attention of the Partnership. 
11 Please ensure that, in connection with the above Areas of Concern, your Task Group sets out its 
Recommendations to the Partnership to address these Concerns, so that agreement can be made (where 
appropriate). 
12 Please ensure that any items included here for Publicity are not protectively marked. 

Page 67



Southern Domestic Abuse Task Group  
Strategic Aim: To Measure Performance Against Key Indicators That Support The Community Safety Plan Priorities 
Action Plan: 2010-2011                            Action Plan Lead: SCDATG Chair 
Key 
Support 
Indicator 

Lead Action Plan Item Milestones 

PRIORITY 1. Support DV Victims by Raising Awareness in Frontline Staff - Issues & How to report  
1.1 TK To revise and update a 

SCDATG online directory of 
services on domestic violence. 
Maintain visibility. 

Q1-Q4 Ongoing Updates 
Sent out link to site to all former TG mailing lists via email 
Exploring using County website to host directory 

1.2 SK Catalogue & Develop available 
DATG promotional materials and 
create a central library of 
materials available.  
 

Q2. Agreed on joint publicity materials  & get printed (as appropriate 
Q3. Circulated materials &/or signpost agencies as appropriate. 
 

1.3 SK & LR Targeted promotions by DATG 
partner agencies each quarter 
using dv materials. Quarterly 
Actions as specified. 

Q3. Sanctuary Hereward deliver with newsletter to all housing schemes. 
Q2&3: Helpline cards distributed. 
 

P
age 68



Southern Domestic Abuse Task Group  
Strategic Aim: To Measure Performance Against Key Indicators That Support The Community Safety Plan Priorities 
Action Plan: 2010-2011                            Action Plan Lead: SCDATG Chair 
Key 
Support 
Indicator 

Lead Action Plan Item Milestones Quarterly Progress 

1.4 TK, BF 
& IB 

To update South, City & 
East Cambridgeshire 
District Council websites 
content on Domestic 
Violence. Agree any new 
content with the DATG. 

Q2. Assess current content 
Q2. Additions/deletions from 
DATG meeting. 
Q3. Revised website content 
uploaded. 
Q4. End of year review and 
report to the DV task group 
meeting. 

The initial stage of looking at dv webpage content has 
been undertaken. Content agreed by task group. 

1.5 SK Advocate with Local 
Authorities, County 
Council, CSPs & any other 
relevant agencies to 
continue to raise 
awareness of the 
Sanctuary Scheme and 
lobby support by 
requesting they seek to 
identify a core budget 
allocation for sanctuary 
spaces. 

Q1.Investigate budget 
allocation & apply for Capital 
Funding grant. 
Q2. Develop support to secure 
core 2011-12 budget. 
Q3. Draft committee report to 
go to relevant agencies, CSPs 
& CC and identify appropriate 
committee. 
Q4. Deliver committee report 
aimed to secure funding from 
core budget. 

Future of Sanctuary project uncertain in light of funding 
cuts.   

1.6 BF Produce DV advice cards 
for professionals. 

Q2. Distribute remaining 
Sth/City cards to 
Addenbrookes 
Q3. Revise template 
Q4. Distribute 

The content for the cards has now been agreed and dv 
cards distributed.   

1.7 SK Raise awareness with local 
employers to develop a 
separate DV Workplace 
Policy. 

Q2-Q3: Write to Local 
Authorities, County Council & 
relevant agencies to lobby 
employers to consider dv 
issues within their H&S & 
welfare policies, signposting to 
policy templates/guidance. 

IB has forwarded on to SK recent research information 
from DAWES re dv workplace policies. County Council 
are revisiting their policy. 

P
age 69



Southern Domestic Abuse Task Group  
Strategic Aim: To Measure Performance Against Key Indicators That Support The Community Safety Plan Priorities 
Action Plan: 2010-2011                            Action Plan Lead: SCDATG Chair 
Key 
Support 
Indicator 

Lead Action Plan Item Milestones Quarterly Progress 

Priority 2: To Reduce Repeat Victimisation 
1.8  Increase the number of 

East Cambs referrals (& 
maintain South/City) to the 
MARAC by active 
engagement with the PCT 
Social Care Unit. Liaison 
with midwives, CMHT, 
Cambs NHS, Social 
Workers.  

Q2 Monitor number of referrals 
made & report back to DV 
Implementation Group for 
Action 
Q2 Monitor number of referrals 
made & report back to DV 
Implementation Group for 
Action 
Q3 & Q4 – Arrange further 
training or awareness raising 
to respond to gaps 

MARAC system being revised.. 
Report available at end of financial year. 
More reports can be seen as a positive result. 

1.9 SK & LR Continue to advocate the 
support for the Freedom 
programme for individuals 
who use violence in their 
relationships by lobby the 
CSP Boards and other 
relevant agencies to 
allocate core funding. 
 

Q1. Identify funding to support 
a rolling 36 session 
programme in both City & East 
Cambs 
Q2. Develop support to secure 
core 2011-12 budget. 
Q3. Draft committee report to 
go to relevant agencies, CSPs 
& CC and identify appropriate 
committee. 
Q4. Deliver committee report 
aimed to secure funding from 
core budget. 

Freedom programmes being delivered in South Cambs.  
Funding available to fund more programmes. 

1.10 MFS/AJ To continue to investigate 
the viability of establishing 
a Halfway 
House/emergency housing 
stock in the district to 
support victims of dv living 
in East Cambs 

 A potential property has been identified. AJ in the 
process of applying for Funding through Awards for All & 
a meeting being set up with AJ, MFS, Sanctuary 
Hereward & Head of Housing at ECDC. IB to assist 
where needed. 
Difficulties in obtaining funding.  AJ to contact AS. 

P
age 70



Southern Domestic Abuse Task Group  
Strategic Aim: To Measure Performance Against Key Indicators That Support The Community Safety Plan Priorities 
Action Plan: 2010-2011                            Action Plan Lead: SCDATG Chair 
Key 
Support 
Indicator 

Lead Action Plan Item Milestones Quarterly Progress 

Priority 3: Challenging the Attitudes of Children & Young People to Domestic Abuse 
1.11 SK Deliver Young People’s 

Freedom Programmes 
(with ASDAN accredited 
outcomes) through 
Romsey Mill and The 
Meadow’s Children & 
Family Wing 

 3 programmes completed. 

Priority 4: Support Children & Young People who Witness/and or Experience Domestic Violence 
1.12 SK Ascham Road / Romsey 

Mill to pilot and evaluate 
“Hold Your Head High”, a 
perpetrator and victim 
programme for young men. 

 Ongoing programme. 

1.13 County 
CYP 
Group 

Deliver one Therapeutic 
programme for Children 
and Young People who are 
witnesses or victims of 
Domestic Violence in East 
Cambridgeshire. Budget 
allocated from East 
Cambridgeshire CSP up to 
£1,000 

 £3,500 LPSA reward grant will not be received.   

P
age 71



 
 
 
 

Southern Domestic Abuse Task Group  
Strategic Aim: To Measure Performance Against Key Indicators That Support The Community Safety Plan Priorities 
Action Plan: 2010-2011                            Action Plan Lead: SCDATG Chair 
Key 
Support 
Indicator 

Lead Action Plan Item Milestones Quarterly Progress 

Priority 5: Challenging Behaviour of Domestic Violence Offenders 
1.14 AS  Develop “New Directions 

Service” pilot in Cambridge 
for individuals that use 
violence in their 
relationships. 

 Work progressing.  

Priority 6: To Increase the Awareness of Domestic Abuse Services in Hard –to –Reach Groups 
1.15 NB  Explore and develop 

awareness raising 
amongst BME groups in 
the district (Migrant 
workers, Travellers etc), 
including targeted 
translations of DV literature 
and specific Travellers 

Q1.Research BME  
Q2. Identify delivery areas/key 
contacts. 
Q3. Distribute literature  
Q4. Evaluation 

The Community Cohesion Officer aims to forge links 
with all hard-to-reach groups. Are aware of dv issues 
within this remit and is using the reporting process as 
needed. 
Surgeries being held at packing plants for Polish 
workers.   

P
age 72



4.  Update from Anti-Social Behaviour Task Group – Q3 
 
Priority Area:  Anti Social Behaviour  
 
Lead Officer:  Insp Chris Savage 
 
Key Achievements during this Quarter13 

 
• ASB Caseworker has returned from maternity leave 
• New rolling plan section drafted highlighting vulnerable victims 
• Policing In Cambridgeshire survey shows that of 50 people surveyed each month 

in October, November and December 1 person thought there was a high level of 
ASB in their area in South Cambridgeshire. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Areas of Concern for Partnership to Note14 

 
None. 

 
 
 
Recommendations to Partnership to Address Concerns15 

 
None. 
 
 
Any Items for Publicity16 
 
None. 
 
 
 

                                                 
13 Please ensure that you only highlight those notable achievements recorded against your Task 
Group’s Action Plan. 
14 Please ensure that you only highlight those concerns that your Task Group considers should be 
drawn to the attention of the Partnership. 
15 Please ensure that, in connection with the above Areas of Concern, your Task Group sets out its 
Recommendations to the Partnership to address these Concerns, so that agreement can be made 
(where appropriate). 
16 Please ensure that any items included here for Publicity are not protectively marked. 

ASB Task Group Stats – Q3  ASB Task Group Stats – 
Cumulative YTD from April 2009 

7 New Cases referred to group this 
quarter  
• 6 Individuals 
• 0 Areas 
• 1 Family 

67 New Cases referred to group YTD
  
• 42 Individuals 
• 10 Areas 
• 15 Families    

Page 73



Restricted 
Page 22 of 23 

 
5.  Update from Drug and Alcohol Task Group – Q3 

 
Priority Area: Drug & Alcohol  
 
Lead Officer: Susie Talbot  
 
The performance data for Quarter 3 will be available in February 2011. Below is a brief update of the 
treatment services using Q2 data. 
 
Young people service 
 

- For Quarter 2 of 2010/11, there are 25 young people from South Cambridgeshire who were in 
treatment at CASUS (14 individuals) and Youth Offending Team (11 individuals). The main 
drug type used by young people in was cannabis and followed by alcohol.  

- There has been a pretty good mixture of referral sources, ranging from self referrals, criminal 
justice referrals, schools, alternative education and health services. 

- Specifically in Quarter 2, CASUS have delivered the following work in South Cambs: 
o Targeted work with a group of eight young girls aged 13 - 15 at Melbourne Village 

College. 
o Visited Cottenham Village School to delivered drug and alcohol misuse 

awareness/education in PSHE sessions and also worked with two vulnerable targeted 
groups. 

o Provided advice and information for five professionals at the two above schools.  
- The Youth Offending Team’s Substance misuse service continues to develop strong links with 

the CASUS and attend their team meetings on a regular basis. Substance misuse work in 
South Cambs includes supporting many parents of young people who receive the substance 
misuse intervention and delivering a wide range of interventions to the young people. 

 
Adult drug and alcohol treatment service 
 

- Performance data: Countywide, DAAT has exceeded the target on the number of clients in 
effective treatment: 
o Number of Problem drug users recorded as being in effective treatment in the last 12 

months (July 2009 to June 2010): 1,202 (117% of the target) 
o Number of all adults recoded as being in effective treatment in the last 12 months (July 

2009 to June 2010): 1,414 (113% of the target). 
- In Q2, 63 South Cambs residents (5% of the county total) were involved with the drug 

treatment agencies and 36 adults (8% of the county total) were engaged in alcohol treatment 
services.  

- Addaction will start the new Structured Day Programme in early February – this will include 
relapse prevention and harm reduction groups.  

- Addaction continue to offer acupuncture three times a week for Cambridge and South clients 
accessing drug treatment.  

- The team offer a monthly drop in for Cambridge and South Cambs clients at the Women’s 
Resource Centre and have a single point of contact for Winter Comfort.  

- NACRO continue to offer clients support around training and employment.  

Page 74



Restricted 
Page 23 of 23 

- Staff are able to internally refer their clients for one to one housing support and advice. 
- The DAAT Alcohol Coordinator post no longer exists from January 2011. Ongoing alcohol 

works will be absorbed to the team. The DAAT is also undergoing a restructuring within the 
Community Engagement Directorate and the consultation process will start by end February 
2011.   

 
Drug Intervention Programme (DIP) 

- In October 2010, out of the total 145 Cambridgeshire DIP clients, there were three South 
Cambs residents (2% of the county caseload). The numbers of DIP clients in South Cambs 
have been consistently low. Those are clients who meet DIP criteria (over 18s, Class A using 
and currently offending). 

Work is now underway to enable DIP to become aligned to IOM from April of next year. 
 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is left blank intentionally.



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\1\9\3\AI00040391\$vbt3b3he.doc 

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT 
CRIME & DISORDER REDUCTION PARTNERSHIP 

 
  
REPORT TO: CDRP Board 1 February 2011 
AUTHOR/S: Bridget Fairley, Partnership Support Officer 

 
 

2010-11 CDRP FUNDING  
 

Purpose 
1. To update the CDRP Board on progress with 2010-11 funding.  

 
Background 

2. In 2010-11 the CDRP received funding as follows: 
 
Safer & Stronger Communities Fund (SSCF) 
o £67,273.23 revenue allocation was reduced to £60,545.90 following a reduction of 

10%. 
o The Serious Acquisitive Crime Task Group made two SSCF funding applications to 

the Safer Stronger Board.  One application was for £5,000 towards targeted policing 
to reduce burglary.  The second application was for £4,500 to reduce vehicle crime 
by holding events to distribute crime prevention information and use of a trap car. 

 
CDRP Pooled Fund 
o £32,506.40 available.  The Pooled Fund does not need to be spent by the end of 

the financial year.   
 
3. Current CDRP Funding Position 2010-11  
3.1 A report entitled CDRP Funding 2010-11 Underspend was circulated to the CDRP Board 

on 23 November 2010.  Options to spend the remaining £13,000 were outlined.  It was 
agreed by email that the funds would be spent on a road safety project and a contribution 
made to the work of the SCDC Housing ASB Officer to work with all residents of South 
Cambridgeshire not just SCDC tenants.  This decision needs to be minuted at the 
February meeting. 

 
3.2 The table in the attached appendix shows the current CDRP funding position and provides 

progress updates on the projects the CDRP has funded during the current financial year. 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 6Page 77



Page 78

This page is left blank intentionally.



20
10

-1
1 

C
D

R
P

 F
u

n
d

in
g

 P
la

n
60

,5
45

.9
0

0.
00

32
,5

06
.4

0

P
ro

je
ct

SSCF Revenue

SSCF Capital

Pooled Fund

P
ro

je
ct

 P
ro

g
re

ss
 U

p
d

at
es

C
D

R
P

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 S
up

po
rt

 O
ffi

ce
r

23
,5

00
.0

0
P

os
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

pa
rt

-t
im

e 
fr

om
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

0.

C
D

R
P

 A
S

B
 C

as
e 

O
ffi

ce
r

16
,6

00
.0

0
T

em
po

ra
ry

 A
S

B
 C

as
ew

or
ke

r 
ha

s 
be

en
 e

m
pl

oy
ed

 fr
om

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

- 
D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

.  
P

er
m

an
en

t 
A

S
B

 C
as

ew
or

ke
r 

re
tu

rn
ed

 in
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
10

.
£2

25
 u

se
d 

fo
r 

C
IE

H
 C

on
fli

ct
 R

es
ol

ut
io

n 
&

 P
er

so
na

l S
af

et
y 

co
ur

se

F
un

di
ng

 to
 S

C
D

C
 A

ffo
rd

ab
le

 H
ou

si
ng

 to
 fo

cu
s 

on
 A

S
B

 
pr

oj
ec

ts
/is

su
es

10
,1

40
.3

0
F

un
di

ng
 w

ill
 b

e 
to

w
ar

ds
 w

or
k 

th
at

 w
ill

 fo
cu

s 
on

 A
S

B
 p

ro
je

ct
s/

is
su

es
 w

ith
 a

ny
 r

es
id

en
ts

 o
f S

ou
th

 
C

am
bs

 n
ot

 ju
st

 S
C

D
C

 te
na

nt
s.

  I
t w

ill
 c

ov
er

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

1 
da

y 
of

 o
ffi

ce
r 

tim
e 

ov
er

 5
2 

w
ee

ks
.

G
ra

nt
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e 

an
 a

ct
io

n 
pl

an
 w

ith
 c

le
ar

 o
bj

ec
tiv

es
 a

nd
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
t t

o 
re

po
rt

 o
n 

pr
og

re
ss

 a
ga

in
st

 e
ac

h 
ob

je
ct

iv
e.

 

F
ire

 S
er

vi
ce

 'D
riv

e 
to

 A
rr

iv
e'

 p
ro

je
ct

2,
68

6.
60

P
ro

vi
de

 in
te

ra
ct

iv
e 

w
or

ks
ho

ps
 fo

r 
st

ud
en

ts
 a

t s
ix

th
 fo

rm
 c

ol
le

ge
s.

  E
nc

ou
ra

ge
 s

tu
de

nt
s 

to
 th

in
k 

ab
ou

t d
ec

is
io

ns
 th

ey
 m

ak
e 

an
d 

fo
cu

s 
on

 c
au

se
s 

of
 r

oa
d 

tr
af

fic
 c

ol
lis

io
ns

.

R
em

ov
al

 c
os

ts
 to

 r
es

ol
ve

 c
om

pl
ex

 A
S

B
 c

as
e

40
0.

00
T

o 
co

ve
r 

th
e 

co
st

 o
f m

ov
in

g 
a 

fa
m

ily
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 A
S

B
 to

 r
es

ol
ve

 a
 c

om
pl

ex
 c

as
e.

C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n 
to

 e
nf

or
ce

m
en

t a
ct

io
n 

in
 C

ow
 F

en
 D

ro
ve

, 
S

w
av

es
ey

15
9.

00
S

ki
p 

ha
s 

be
en

 o
rd

er
ed

, f
ill

ed
 a

nd
 r

em
ov

ed
 fr

om
 s

ite
.

T
es

co
 T

V
1,

56
0.

00
T

o 
br

oa
dc

as
t m

es
sa

ge
s 

on
 T

es
co

 T
V

 a
t B

ar
 H

ill
. 2

4 
m

on
th

 p
ac

ka
ge

 s
ho

w
in

g 
4 

m
es

sa
ge

s 
a 

ye
ar

. 
M

es
sa

ge
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

ar
ou

nd
 d

om
es

tic
 a

bu
se

, b
ur

gl
ar

y 
an

d 
ve

hi
cl

e 
cr

im
e 

re
du

ct
io

n

P
P

O
 In

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 S

ch
em

e
50

0.
00

S
ee

 P
P

O
 q

ua
rt

er
ly

 u
pd

at
e

IO
M

 S
ch

em
e

5,
00

0.
00

M
at

ch
 fu

nd
in

g 
to

w
ar

ds
 p

os
t o

f I
O

M

T
o

ta
ls

60
,5

45
.9

0
0.

00
0.

00
F

u
n

d
s 

re
m

ai
n

in
g

0.
00

0.
00

32
,5

06
.4

0

S
S

C
F

 G
R

A
N

T
 A

P
P

L
IC

A
T

IO
N

S
V

eh
ic

le
 C

rim
e 

R
ed

uc
tio

n
4,

50
0.

00
S

S
C

F
 g

ra
nt

 a
w

ar
de

d 
in

 N
ov

em
be

r 
to

 h
ol

d 
3 

ve
hi

cl
e 

cr
im

e 
ev

en
ts

 in
 S

ou
th

 C
am

bs
 in

 D
ec

em
be

r.
 

20
00

 c
ar

 h
an

ge
rs

 d
is

tr
ib

ut
ed

. R
em

ai
ni

ng
 £

3,
00

0 
to

 d
ep

lo
y 

tr
ap

 c
ar

.

B
ur

gl
ar

y 
P

ro
je

ct
5,

00
0.

00
S

S
C

F
 g

ra
nt

 a
w

ar
de

d 
in

 N
ov

em
be

r 
to

w
ar

ds
 ta

rg
et

ed
 p

ol
ic

in
g 

to
 c

ol
la

te
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

to
 a

rr
es

t o
ffe

nd
er

s.
  

A
rr

es
te

d 
4 

pe
op

le
 a

nd
 e

xe
cu

te
d 

4 
se

ar
ch

 w
ar

ra
nt

s.

Page 79



Page 80

This page is left blank intentionally.



SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT 
CRIME & DISORDER REDUCTION PARTNERSHIP 

 
  
REPORT TO: South Cambs CDRP Board 1 February 2011 
AUTHOR/S: Bridget Fairley 

 
 

CDRP COMMUNITY SAFETY PLAN 2011-14 
 
1 Purpose 

 
For CDRP Board members to approve the South Cambridgeshire CDRP Community Safety 
Plan 2011-14.  

 
2 Background 
 
2.1 The current CDRP rolling plan is a three year plan running from April 2008 – March 2011. 

This new CDRP Community Safety Plan is also a three year plan from April 2011 – March 
2014 and will be refreshed annually.  It has been produced jointly by Bridget Fairley, 
Partnership Support Officer, South Cambridgeshire CDRP and Jenny Massie, Partnership 
Liaison Officer, Cambridgeshire Police, reporting to the CDRP Executive Group. 

 
2.2 The development process of the plan was informed by decisions made on CDRP priorities 

for 2011-12, taken by the CDRP Board at its meeting on 25th October 2010. The agreed 
priorities are: 

 
• Reducing burglary of homes 
• Reducing the number of repeat victims of anti-social behaviour 
• Reducing farm crime 
• Improving road safety 

 
Board members will recall that the CDRP Board agreed that reducing Domestic Abuse 
should be mainstreamed into the CDRPs core work, rather than listed as a separate 
priority. 

 
2.3 Input and comments from lead officers on each priority theme were gathered between 

November 2010 and January 2011.  These comments were then incorporated into the draft 
Community Safety Plan document, and discussed at a meeting of the CDRP Executive 
Group on 10th January 2010. 

 
2.4 Lead officers have been agreed as Chief Inspector Dave Sargent for reducing burglary of 

homes and Inspector Chris Savage for reducing the number of repeat victims of anti-social 
behaviour.  Lead officers for reducing farm crime and improving road safety have not been 
identified.  It is requested that the CDRP Board agree lead officers for these priorities. 

 
2.5 Once agreed by the CDRP the Community Safety Plan needs to be presented to SCDC 

Cabinet on 10th February and then SCDC Full Council on 24th February. 
 
3 Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the CDRP Board: 
 
  a)  approve the content of the South Cambs CDRP Community Safety Plan 2011-14 
  

b) agree the lead officer for reducing farm crime 
 
c)  agree the lead officer for improving road safety 

 

Agenda Item 8Page 81



Page 82

This page is left blank intentionally.



Page 1 of 30 

 

 
South Cambridgeshire Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Partnership 
Community Safety Plan April 2011 to March 2014 
2011/2012  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 83



Page 2 of 30 

 
Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 
Section 1:  CDRP Priorities and Plans ........................................................................................................................................... 4 
Priority 1: Reducing burglary of homes ........................................................................................................................................ 5 
Priority 1:  Action plan for reducing burglary of homes in the District .......................................................................................... 6 
Priority 2: Reducing number of repeat victims of anti-social behaviour ........................................................................................ 9 
Priority 2:  Action plan for reducing number of repeat victims of anti-social behaviour .............................................................. 10 
Priority 3: Reducing Farm Crime ................................................................................................................................................ 13 
Priority 3:  Action plan for reducing Farm Crime in the District ................................................................................................... 14 
Priority 4: Improve Road Safety .................................................................................................................................................. 16 
Priority 4:  Action plan for improving Road Safety in the District ................................................................................................ 17 
Section 2:  Mainstreamed Activities ........................................................................................................................................... 19 
Reducing Domestic Abuse ......................................................................................................................................................... 19 
Reducing Re-offending ............................................................................................................................................................. 20 
Section 3:  How the CDRP works ................................................................................................................................................ 21 
Section 4:  Funding ................................................................................................................................................................... 23 
Section 5:  Neighbourhood Panels ............................................................................................................................................. 24 
Section 6:  CDRP successes in the last 12 months ...................................................................................................................... 25 
Section 7:  Glossary ................................................................................................................................................................... 27 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 84



Page 3 of 30 

Introduction 
South Cambridgeshire remains one of the safest places to live in the country.  The South Cambridgeshire Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnership brings together a number of agencies who by working together in a co-ordinated way can contribute to keeping crime low and 
communities safe. 
 
The CDRP brings additional value to the front-line work of the Police, bringing together a number of agencies whose day to day work also 
contributes to the wider and often more long-term picture of preventing and reducing crime and promoting community safety.  This year the 
CDRP have also set a remit to contribute to the multi-agency work undertaken to improve road safety.     
This Rolling Plan does not include everything that each of those agencies contributes, instead it seeks to give a flavour of the wide range of 
actions that each of the partners will contribute to addressing the priorities we have set for the next three years. 
 
However it is also clear that agencies cannot do it alone.  Communities and residents have a vital part to play.  It is clear from attendance of 
Neighbourhood Panels that there is great interest in the topic of reducing crime, disorder and anti-social behaviour.  So may I take this 
opportunity to encourage you to continue to come along to your local Neighbourhood Panel, provide information to the police and continue 
to help shape local policing priorities.  You can find out where and when your next Neighbourhood Panel is by visiting the “My 
Neighbourhood” pages on the Cambridgeshire Constabulary website (www.cambs.police.uk) or the Neighbourhood Panels page on the South 
Cambridgeshire District Council website (www.scambs.gov.uk).  
 
Finally, should you become a victim or witness a crime or anti-social behaviour, please ensure that you contact Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
on 0345 456 456 4 or in an emergency dial 999, and always request a crime number. 
 
 
Rick Hylton  
Assistant Director of Community Safety, Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service and  
Chair of South Cambridgeshire Crime & Disorder Reduction Partnership 
 
 
 
 

P
age 85



Page 4 of 30 

Section 1:  CDRP Priorities and Plans 
 
In October 2010 the CDRP produced its annual Strategic Assessment, which presented a summary of intelligence analysis for the District to 
assist the CDRP in reviewing current plans and setting priorities for the forthcoming year.  This year’s strategic assessment has included the 
most up to date crime data, important local intelligence gathered from the Neighbourhood Panel meetings, and detail from previous public 
involvement exercises.  The CDRP has agreed the following priorities: 
 
Reducing Burglary of Homes 
Reducing the number of repeat victims of Anti-Social Behaviour 
Reducing Farm Crime 
Improving Road Safety 
 
To find out more about how the Partnership came to agree these priorities you will find it helpful to read this year’s Strategic Assessment 
document.  This is available at http://www.scambs.gov.uk/CommunityandLiving/CommunitySafety/default.htm  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 86



Page 5 of 30 

Priority 1: Reducing burglary of homes 
Why is this a priority? 
Our Strategic Assessment showed that burglary of homes (known as Dwelling Burglary) in the district had decreased by 14.7% during the 
period September 2009 to August 2010, compared to the twelve month period prior to that.  Despite this change when compared with the 
crime levels of 14 other similar authorities over the last 12 months South Cambridgeshire remains poor being the third worse compared 
within this family group.    

What will we do? 
Reduce the dwelling burglary rate to below levels of 2009 - 2010. 

What will our approach be? 
The CDRP has an established Serious Acquisitive Crime Task Group to drive forward multi-disciplinary activities that relate to the prevention 
and detection of dwelling burglary within the District.  The CDRP wants to work together to provide good advice to residents about how they 
can keep their property safe by making good use of E-cops, Neighbourhood Watch Schemes, crime prevention events and the 
Neighbourhood Panel process, as well as providing articles and information to Parish Councils that can be reproduced in community 
magazines.  When hotspot areas are identified we plan to run targeted initiatives.  We will work closer with the neighbouring Cambridge City 
Community Safety Partnership as analysis has shown that dwelling burglary hotspots are often on the boundary fringes with Cambridge. 

How will we measure success? 
At the end of March 2012, the recorded burglary rates per 1,000 households will be lower than the 2009-10 rates of 9.6. 
 
What data will we use to measure the success? 
Recorded crime information held by the Police and Home Office Iquanta system. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 87



Page 6 of 30 

Priority 1:  Action plan for reducing burglary of homes in the District 
 
Action Milestones Lead agency Other partners 
1.1 CDRP to operate a 
dynamic and informed multi-
agency Task Group to ensure 
consistent and energetic 
engagement at a local level. 
 

1.1a Group to meet bi-monthly and share information about 
dwelling burglary, including police analysis updates to 
identify areas requiring attention and inform the direction of 
partnership initiatives  
 
1.1b Police to share with relevant partners updates of the 
dwelling burglary priorities being managed under the Police 
Level 1 Tactical Tasking and Co-ordination Group process, 
including successes and learning for the wider group 
 
1.1c  Task Group to seek opportunities to work with 
Cambridge Community Safety Partnership where relevant. 

Police  Police 
Authority, 
Fire & Rescue 
Service,  
SCDC 
Community 
Safety, 
Trading 
Standards 
 
 
 

1.2 Address known serious 
acquisitive crime offenders 
through the PPO scheme 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See Section 2 for more information.   

P
age 88



Page 7 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead agency Other partners 

1.3 Provide support and 
advice to residents about 
keeping their property secure 

1.3a Encourage members of the community to register on e-
cops and NHW schemes and distribute regular crime 
prevention messages through these communication 
channels.  To assess the numbers registering and expansion 
or setting up of schemes. 
 
1.3b Distribute relevant crime prevention information at 
community safety events; Neighbourhood Panel meetings; 
and to Parish Councils 
 
1.3c Maintain effective communications through the delivery 
of seasonal crime prevention messages and good news 
stories through the media, South Cambs Magazine, and 
Police website. 
 
 
 
 

Police 
 
 
 
 
 
SAC Task 
Group  
 
 
Police 
SCDC 
 
 
 

SAC Task 
Group 

1.4 To facilitate the target 
hardening of the most 
vulnerable households in the 
district 

1.4a Promotion of and active referrals into the countywide 
Bobby Scheme to deliver home security improvements to the 
elderly and vulnerable 
 
1.4b Assist vulnerable individuals in accessing relevant 
support services through the promotion of, and active 
referrals into the Cambridgeshire Homeshield scheme 
 

Police 
Shrievalty 
Trust 
 
All CDRP 
Partner 
Agencies 
and  
SAC Task 
Group 

 

P
age 89



Page 8 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead agency Other partners 
 

1.5 Combat Distraction 
Burglars and Rogue Traders 

1.5a Respond to calls from residents concerned about rogue 
traders 
 
1.5b Work with local communities to prevent residents 
becoming victims of rogue traders and distraction burglary 
 
1.5c Work with task group to consider establishing No Cold 
Calling Zones in the District, based upon criteria and where 
required to reduce doorstep crime 
 
1.5d Ensure CDRP representation and involvement at 
Countywide Distraction Burglary group  
 
1.5e Ensure task group receives updates about, and supports 
the activity conducted by the Constabulary’s divisional 
Distraction Burglary Group. 
 

County 
Trading 
Standards 
Service 
 
 
 
 

Police, SCDC 
Housing, 
Bobby Scheme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 90



Page 9 of 30 

 
 
Priority 2: Reducing number of repeat victims of anti-social behaviour  
  

Why is this a priority? 
Our Strategic Assessment showed that anti-social behaviour affected 21.4% of people once or twice a month and 12.7% of people were 
affected either every day or several times a week.  A Cambridgeshire Constabulary survey showed that 1.10% of South Cambridgeshire 
residents perceived that there was a high level of ASB in their area in the rolling 12 months until the end of November 2010.  Anti-social 
behaviour affects people’s view of their local area and their perceived likelihood of becoming a victim of crime.  The cumulative impact of 
repeat incidents of anti-social behaviour can be very damaging.   

What will we do? 
We will work together to take appropriate action against individuals causing the problems. 

What will our approach be? 
We will consider problems caused by individuals and areas within communities.  When individuals are referred to the CDRP’s monthly Anti- 
Social Behaviour Task Group, information is shared by the agency professionals present, and agreement found on the best action to be to be 
taken.  Whenever areas are prioritised at Neighbourhood Panels, these are automatically referred to the Task Group to identify further work 
necessary.  Often this will be a balance of arranging extra support and positive activities, as well as using tools and powers available to 
tackle anti-social behaviour.     

How will we measure success? 
We will review each individual case on a monthly basis at our monthly Task Group meetings, with a target of seeing improvement in 75% of 
cases referred to our ASB Task Group within 12 months of referral. 

What data will we use to measure the success? 
Recorded incident data held by the Police as well as data collated from the annual strategic assessment questionnaire.  
 
 

P
age 91



Page 10 of 30 

Priority 2:  Action plan for reducing number of repeat victims of anti-social behaviour 
 
Action Milestones Lead CDRP 

Agency 
Other 
partners 

2.1 Ensure victims and 
witnesses of anti-social 
behaviour are supported 
from complaint through to 
resolution. 
 
 

2.1a  Clarify definition of a repeat victim and 
promote awareness of the definition amongst 
agencies 
 
2.1b  Determine what action should be taken 
when a repeat victim is identified and make 
sure agencies are aware of the procedures 
 
2.1c  Provide a tailored level of service to all 
victims of ASB by adhering to a unified set of 
agreed minimum service standards for victims 
and witnesses 
 
2.1d  Promote minimum standards agreed by 
CDRP for victims by ensuring officers know 
what the minimum standards are 
 
2.1e  Identify senior lead officer in each agency 
to resolve complex ASB cases 
 
2.1f  Communicate with individuals at all 
stages of process and keep them updated 

ASB Caseworker 
 
 
 
ASB Caseworker 
 
 
 
ASB Task Group 
 
 
 
 
ASB Caseworker 
 
 
 
ASB Task Group 
 
 
ASB Caseworker 
 

ASB Task 
Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 92



Page 11 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
Agency 

Other 
partners 

through email, meetings, phone. 
 
2.1g  Build working relationship with Victim 
Support.  
 

 
 
ASB Caseworker 

 

2.2 To use problem solving 
approach to tackle local 
anti-social behaviour issues and 
assist in the effective 
deployment of resources. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2a   Develop anti-social behaviour database 
to be used to 
inform, track and manage ASB in a more 
co-ordinated approach. 
 
2.2b   Work with SCDC in improving data 
sharing between departments with a view to 
extending to external agencies 
 
2.2c  Introduce risk assessment process for 
referrals. 
 
2.2d  To continue the multi-agency problem 
solving 
approach by tackling local problems in 

ASB Caseworker 
 
 
 
 
SCDC 
 
 
 
ASB Caseworker 
 
 
ASB Caseworker 

SCDC 
Police 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ASB Task 
Group 

P
age 93



Page 12 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
Agency 

Other 
partners 

 
 
 
 
 

collaboration 
with other partners through Task and 
Finish groups. 
 
2.2e  Bar Hill DPPO Task and Finish Group to 
identify and address alcohol related anti-social 
behaviour. 
 

 
 
 
 
SCDC 
Police 

 
 
 
 
Parish 
Council, 
Trading 
Standards, 
Locality 
Team 
 

2.3 Develop working practices with social and 
private 
sector landlords to ensure a  
consistent approach. 

2.3a  Collate policies and procedures and ASB 
contacts from all relevant partner agencies and 
housing providers to identify best practice and 
achieve problem solving. 
 
2.3b  Encourage participation of other housing 
providers in multi-agency problem solving. 
 

ASB Caseworker 
 
 
 
 
 

ASB Task 
Group 
 
 
 
 

P
age 94



Page 13 of 30 

 
Priority 3: Reducing Farm Crime 
Why is this a priority? 
A scanning exercise of commercial victims of crime was completed as part of the 2010 Strategic Assessment process, and from this farm 
premises were highlighted as the top business location for crime in South Cambridgeshire.  In addition, South Cambridgeshire has seen a 
year on year increase (since 2006/07) in offences committed on farms, (67 offences in 2006/071; 75 in 2007/08; 110 in 2008/09; and 120 
offences in 2009/10).     

What will we do? 
Reduce the number of offences committed on farm premises to below levels recorded in 2009 - 2010. 

What will our approach be? 
There are groups already in place at both a county and regional level with the remit to monitor and manage rural crime issues and as a CDRP 
we will work with these to ensure a two way communication of district and cross border issues.  We want to provide good advice to farm 
owners about how they can keep their premises and property safe, we will do this by promoting Countryside Watch and via the Rural Crime 
Action Team we will utilise their networks to share information.  In addition we will utilise analytical documents to shape the design and 
delivery of bespoke crime prevention materials, and run rural crime roadshows.  

How will we measure success? 
At the end of March 2012, the recorded number of offences committed on farm premises will be lower than the 2009-10. 
 
What data will we use to measure the success? 
Recorded crime information held by the Police and Fire Service Arson data.

                                           
1 Strategic Assessment Year 

P
age 95



Page 14 of 30 

 
Priority 3:  Action plan for reducing Farm Crime in the District 
 
Action Milestones Lead CDRP 

agency 
Other partners 

3.1  Develop strong channels 
of communication to ensure 
issues concerning farm crime 
are identified and responded 
to accordingly. 
 

3.1a  Nominated CDRP representative to attend the County Rural 
Crime Action Group meetings as an active member on behalf of 
the CDRP and feedback, as appropriate. 
 
3.1b  Cambridgeshire representative at the Eastern Region Rural 
Crime meetings to ensure the dissemination of relevant 
information that may impact upon the South Cambridgeshire area 
i.e. cross border activity in Bedfordshire and emerging crime 
trends on farm premises.    
 

CDRP 
 
 
 
Police  

Police 
 
 
 
 
CDRP 

3.2  Collate and present 
information to direct target 
hardening activity in the 
most vulnerable locations. 

3.2a  Commission a piece of research to understand the nature of 
offences being committed on farms in South Cambridgeshire (to 
include issues such as the level of offences being committed in 
the hotspot areas; the potential impact/disruption of these 
offences; and any common modus operandi or environmental 
weaknesses) and take appropriate action in response to the 
findings and recommendations. 
 
 

County 
Council 
Crime 
Research 
Team 

Police 
Fire Service 
Countryside 
Watch 

3.3  Provide support and 
advice to residents about 
keeping their property secure 

3.3a Utilising the analytical documents referenced at 3.1 and 3.2 
above design and deliver bespoke rural crime prevention 
materials for the farming community (subject to funding being 
secured). 
 

Police (Crime 
Reduction 
Unit/RCAT) 
 
 

Countryside 
Watch 
Fire Service 
Police (NPT) 
 

P
age 96



Page 15 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
agency 

Other partners 

3.3b Promote Cambridgeshire Countryside Watch and encourage 
members of the community to register on e-cops and distribute 
messages through these channels of communication. 
 
3.3c Develop the delivery of joint security surveys at farm 
premises, representatives of the Police Crime Reduction Unit 
inviting Countryside Watch to attend.      
 
3.3d To organise and conduct rural crime meetings or roadshows 
in hotspot areas in conjunction with the relevant Neighbourhood 
Policing Team.  Also considering a presence at local events that 
attract the farming community i.e. Fenland Country Fair. 

Police 
 
 
 
Police/ 
Countryside 
Watch 
 
Police / 
Countryside 
Watch 

Countryside 
Watch 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SCDC 
Fire Service 
 
 

3.4  Work with the Rural 
Crime Action Team to raise 
awareness of rural crime 
issues amongst frontline 
staff, increasing information 
exchange  

3.4a  Rural Crime Action Team and Countryside Watch to deliver 
rural crime briefings to Neighbourhood Policing Staff via a series 
of input sessions.  Hot spot areas to be a priority.  Other 
partners/workers to be invited, on an identified needs basis. 
 

Police Countryside 
Watch 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 97



Page 16 of 30 

 
Priority 4: Improve Road Safety 
Why is this a priority? 
As part of the 2010 Strategic Assessment process, residents answered questions in the Community Safety Survey about their local area, 
particularly in relation to community, well-being, and anti-social behaviour issues.  When respondents were asked to comment upon Anti-
Social Behaviour, anti-social use of vehicles (e.g. speeding or illegal parking) was one of the areas of greatest concern with 45% of 
respondents identifying this as a ‘very’ or ‘fairly’ big problem.  In addition respondents were given the opportunity to raise other concerns 
around community safety and 27% of these were vehicle related, with issues including speeding, parking controls and road safety for cyclists.  
Tackling road safety issues is also a regular neighbourhood priority adopted across the Neighbourhood Panels in South Cambridgeshire.       

What will we do? 
We will work together to deliver a number of preventative and enforcement activities addressing particular road safety issues and concerns. 

What will our approach be? 
The CDRP has already identified the need to improve its relationship with the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Road Safety Partnership 
(CPRSP) and the Cambridgeshire County Road Safety Team, understanding their roles and priorities and how this fits in with work being 
conducted at a local level.  We will build upon existing links to develop a shared awareness of the work being undertaken and co-ordinate 
joint road safety activity, where appropriate.  We will consult with our road safety colleagues when a road safety issue is adopted as a 
neighbourhood priority to ensure a full response in addressing the issue.      
 
How will we measure success? 
As this is the first time the CDRP have undertaken to improve road safety as a priority, we will treat this reporting year as the baseline for 
identifying future performance targets.  We will seek to identify the number of road safety events that have been held including their 
outcomes, and the frequency that relevant legislation has been utilised to manage the anti-social use of vehicles.    
What data will we use to measure the success? 
Police, Fire Service and County Council statistics and data collated from the annual strategic assessment questionnaire. 
 
 
 

P
age 98



Page 17 of 30 

 
Priority 4:  Action plan for improving Road Safety in the District 
 
Action Milestones Lead CDRP 

agency 
Other 
partners 

4.1  Develop strong channels 
of communication to ensure 
the identification and/or 
escalation of road safety 
issues impacting upon the 
district. 
 

4.1a  CPRSP representative to attend the CDRP Board 
meetings as an active member, providing quarterly KSI and 
Accident data figures (including locations) and detail of 
activity being co-ordinated at a county level.  Also acting as 
a conduit to communicate district issues to relevant county 
level partners.  
 
4.1b  County Road Safety Team to notify relevant parties of 
diversion routes planned through South Cambs villages when 
major routes are closed, allowing the opportunity for 
dialogue. 
 
4.1c  To ensure that road safety issues are incorporated into 
the community safety consultations that feed into the 
Strategic Assessment process.   
 
 

CPRSP 
County Council 
Road Safety 
Team 
 
 
 
County Road 
Safety Team 
 
 
 
County Council 
Research Team 

CDRP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Police  
Fire Service 
Ambulance 
Service 
 
CDRP 

4.2  Encourage the 
responsible use of roads 
through the delivery of 
preventative information; 
advice or support and 
enforcement activities.          

4.2a  Promote the CPRSP website (http://www.cprsp.gov.uk/) 
and the relevant campaigns it delivers, providing 
endorsement and/or support of the accompanying materials. 
 
4.2b Continue the delivery of the “Drive to Arrive” 
programme to sixth form students, feeding detail of the 
outcomes to relevant Neighbourhood Panels for information.   

All CDRP 
Members 
 
 
Fire Service 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Schools 
 
 

P
age 99



Page 18 of 30 

Action Milestones Lead CDRP 
agency 

Other 
partners 

4.2c Work towards the wider roll out of the bin sticker 
campaign in South Cambridgeshire, with initial focus on 
priority locations. 
 
4.2d Actively utilise relevant legislation and powers to 
effectively manage anti-social vehicle use, including those 
available under Section 59 of the Police Reform Act 2002 
(vehicles being used in a manner which causes alarm, 
distress or annoyance). 
 
        

SCDC 
CCC 
 
 
 
Police 

CPRSP 
County Road 
Safety Team 

4.3  Provide a complete 
response to neighbourhood 
level road safety issues. 

4.3a  CPRSP and/or County Road Safety Team to be 
consulted when road safety issue adopted to ensure:  
i) relevant county level resources are harnessed (where 
appropriate) in support of local action i.e. mobile safety 
camera unit 
ii) awareness of work conducted at a county level that will 
contribute to tackling the issue i.e. A1307 campaign and 
remedial works, and can be fed back as part of the 
neighbourhood panel response.    
 
4.3b  Continue to support the provision of highly visible 
enforcement activity such as police patrols and Speedwatch 
as a community initiative.     
 
 

Police 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Police 

CPRSP 
County Road 
Safety Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public 

 

P
age 100



Page 19 of 30 

 
Section 2:  Mainstreamed Activities   
  
Reducing Domestic Abuse  
 
Work to reduce domestic abuse is currently carried out by the Cambridgeshire Domestic Abuse Partnership.  This Partnership comprises of 
the Domestic Abuse Strategy Group, Domestic Abuse Partnership Implementation Group and Domestic Abuse Task Groups who work on a 
countywide basis with key agencies to address domestic violence.  However, it is important to point out that in response to new government 
legislation work is underway to restructure the Cambridgeshire Domestic Abuse Partnership.  The restructure will be completed in 2011/12. 
 
Southern Cambridgeshire’s Domestic Abuse Task Group is a sub-group of the Crime and Disorder Reduction / Community Safety 
Partnerships in Cambridge City, East and South Cambridgeshire, comprising of managers and practitioners who aim to address domestic 
abuse in Cambridgeshire through implementing County and local strategies.  A representative of the CDRP will attend the Southern 
Cambridgeshire Domestic Abuse Task Group and take forward projects such as production of cards with domestic abuse helpline numbers.  
The task group has an action plan which focuses work in priority areas.     
 
Objectives of the task group are to: 
 
• Ensure the delivery of local, regional and national domestic violence strategies, especially regarding awareness raising among service 

users and partner agencies; 
• Develop a multi-agency forum for relevant practitioners and managers to share best practice on domestic abuse work; 
• Identify local gaps in service provision; 
• Develop sub-groups, as appropriate, to support the work of the Cambridgeshire Domestic Abuse Strategy Group; 
• Ensure representation is sent to the Domestic Abuse Partnership Implementation Group. 

 

P
age 101



Page 20 of 30 

 
 
Reducing Re-offending 
 
On the 18th June 2009 the Government published a formal guidance document for all CDRPs and their partner agencies, entitled ‘Integrated 
Offender Management: Government Policy Statement’.  The document provided direction to CDRPs and Local Criminal Justice Boards to bring 
together the management of repeat offenders under one “integrated offender management” (IOM) framework.  IOM is based on five key 
principles: 
 
• All partners tackling offenders together; 
• Delivering a local response to local problems; 
• Offenders facing their responsibility or facing the consequences; 
• Making better use of existing (and proven) programmes and governance; 
• All offenders at high risk of causing serious harm and/or re-offending are in scope. 
 
In essence, this means drawing together existing schemes such as the Prolific and Priority Offender and Drugs Intervention Programmes 
allowing resources to be combined and tasks to be delivered more efficiently and effectively, therefore providing capacity for a further cohort 
of offenders (yet to determined) to be managed.  In 2010/11 much work has taken place to develop and establish a local model of Integrated 
Offender Management and the South Cambridgeshire CDRP have played a significant role in shaping its design, as active members of both 
the strategic and working groups.  2011/12 will be the year where IOM begins to be properly implemented locally.   
 
The importance of achieving sustainable reductions in crime was further reinforced in April 2010 as reducing re-offending became a 
statutory responsibility for all Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships/Community Safety Partnerships in England and Wales. The CDRP 
remains committed to reducing offending and re-offending and continues to support the schemes in place to manage those offenders 
causing most harm to our community.  
 

P
age 102



Page 21 of 30 

 
Section 3:  How the CDRP works  
 
The CDRP brings together a number of agencies that all can have an effect on reducing crime and improving community safety, adding value 
to the day-to-day work of the police.  All of the projects and initiatives listed in the plan contribute to the overall picture of reducing crime 
and improving community safety.    Some projects are core day to day work of the CDRP agencies, for example the wide range of youth work, 
domestic violence services, and removing abandoned vehicles.  Other projects bring together 2 or 3 agencies working together on a special 
project, for example a themed crime reduction event and various problem solving task groups.  This rolling plan does not include every piece 
of work going on in the District to reduce crime.  Instead it clearly lays out key actions that will contribute to the Partnership’s priorities. 
 
The CDRP Board meets on a quarterly basis to make key strategic decisions such as producing the Strategic Assessment, the yearly Rolling 
Plan and ensuring the funding is spent as directed.  These decisions are then taken forward by the Executive Group.  We also have a number 
of Task Groups that carry forward specific work on the CDRP priorities:  the ASB Task Group meet on a monthly basis, the Serious Acquisitive 
Crime Task Group meets every other month, and the Domestic Abuse Task Group meets quarterly.  The CDRP reports to the District 
Council’s Scrutiny Committee who can ask for regular updates from the CDRP to check progress toward targets.  At the time of writing it is 
unknown how much funding will be received for 2011-12; the CDRP will aim to agree its yearly funding plan in April 2011.   
 
You can get involved with the work of the CDRP by: 
 
• Reporting crime or anti-social behaviour to the police, you can contact Cambridgeshire Constabulary on 0345 456 456 4 or in an 

emergency dial 999. 
• Attending Neighbourhood Police panels in your area to help set policing priorities in your community.  You can find out where and 

when your next Neighbourhood Panel is by visiting the “My Neighbourhood” pages on the Cambridgeshire Constabulary website 
(www.cambs.police.uk) or the Neighbourhood Panels page on the South Cambridgeshire District Council website 
(www.scambs.gov.uk).  

• Signing up to e-cops, a free email service from Cambridgeshire Constabulary keeping you up to date with community news and 
policing in your neighbourhood.  To join complete the simple on-line registration form by visiting the address https://www.cambs-
police.co.uk/myneighbourhood/ecops/  

• Supporting community initiatives in your area such as Speedwatch 

P
age 103



Page 22 of 30 

 
 
Other CDRP priority tasks 
 
In addition to our strategic priorities outlines in this rolling plan, the CDRP is also required by the Home Office to carry out a number of 
actions including:  
 
APRIL  Agree and publish 2011-12 CDRP funding plan 
 
MAY-AUG CDRP Public Consultation in preparation for 2011 Strategic Assessment 
 
SEPT   South Cambridgeshire District Council Scrutiny Review of CDRP Performance  
 
OCT Produce 2011 Strategic Assessment using latest crime data, priorities from Neighbourhood Panels, and results from recent and 

relevant public consultations 
 
QUARTERLY Produce report on crime statistics and progress on CDRP priorities 
 CDRP Board meeting 
 

Targets: 
Each of the chosen priorities in this plan have local targets agreed so the Partnership can effectively manage performance against the 
priority. These indicators have been agreed locally and are relevant specifically to the priorities agreed for South Cambridgeshire. The targets 
we have set are also directly linked to targets in the Sustainable Community Strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 104



Page 23 of 30 

Section 4:  Funding 
 
Each year the CDRP receives some funding to help support its projects and initiatives. 
 
In 2010-11, we allocated our funds as follows: 
 
Safer Stronger Communities Fund 
 
ASB Caseworker - £16,600 
CDRP Partnership Support Officer - £23,500 
Integrated Offender Management Scheme - £5,000 
Crime reduction messages on Tesco TV - £1,560 
3 vehicle crime reduction events and use of trap car - £4,500 
Targeted policing to reduce burglary - £5,000 
 
Pooled Fund 
Contribution toward re-settlement of PPOs in the district - £500 
Enforcement action to make environmental improvements - £159 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 105



Page 24 of 30 

 
Section 5:  Neighbourhood Panels 
How the CDRP links to the Neighbourhood Panels  
Neighbourhood Panels provide an excellent opportunity for local communities to influence the setting of local priorities in response to crime 
and disorder issues, and hear feedback about how those priorities have been addressed. 
 
After each Neighbourhood Panel meeting, priorities and actions are carried forward in the following way: 
 
• Policing actions are taken forward by the appropriate Neighbourhood Policing teams, in many cases they will liaise with other CDRP 

agencies 
 
• Issues of anti-social behaviour are referred to the CDRP Anti-Social Behaviour Task Group, which meets monthly to share information 

held by each agency and agree action.  As well as discussing individual cases, the group discusses and agrees action to address the 
more general ASB problems raised at Neighbourhood Panels 

 
• Other non-police related actions emerging from Neighbourhood Panels (e.g. this may include actions relating to street lighting, refuse 

or fire safety issues) are referred to contact points in the relevant partner agency, who then take appropriate action.   
 
 

P
age 106



Page 25 of 30 

 
Section 6:  CDRP successes in the last 12 months  

 
 

Addressing Serious Acquisitive Crime 
 
• 37 No Cold Calling Zones now established in the district with applications for 3 more 
• 13 crime reduction events in South Cambs aimed at reducing burglary 
• 3 vehicle crime reduction events held in South Cambridgeshire; 2000 people advised about vehicle crime reduction 
• Talks on burglary prevention delivered by Police to vulnerable groups in South Cambs 
• Funding for targeted policing to tackle burglary led to 4 arrests being made and 4 search warrants executed where stolen property 

was found 
• Visits made by the Police Shrievalty Trust ‘Bobby scheme’, carrying out security improvements the homes of vulnerable residents  

Addressing Anti Social Behaviour 
• Questionnaire carried out as part of strategic assessment shows that the majority of residents (51.7%) are rarely affected by ASB 
• 5 ABCs signed  - 1 ASBO issued 
• 2 Problem Solving groups set up to focus on ASB hot-spot areas 
• 5 multi-agency ASB days held as part of ‘The Streets’ programme reaching over 700 young people 
• Street Football sessions aimed at 10-15 year olds held at 5 locations and attended by approximately 12 young people per session  
• Engaged with young people in a positive, constructive way through detached youth work 
• Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service ran a series of activities and initiatives aimed at reducing instances of arson amongst young 

people 

P
age 107



Page 26 of 30 

 

Addressing Domestic Abuse 
 
• Over 500 cards with domestic violence helpline numbers distributed across South Cambs to health professionals, housing officers and 

youth workers. 
• Domestic Violence Directory of Services revised and available on the SCDC website. 
• 4 Freedom Programmes held to help victims of domestic abuse; each session was attended by approximately 25 people 
 
 

Reducing re-offending 
• 7 South Cambridgeshire offenders intensively managed through the Prolific and other Priority Offender scheme (FYTD – Dec 2010) 
• Prolific and other Priority Offender interventions funding used to assist two clients in gaining qualifications and access to 

employment. 
• Southern Prolific and other Priority Offender and Drugs Intervention Programmes co-located and merged in preparation for full 

implementation of Integrated Offender Management. 
• Southern Prolific and other Priority Offender and Drugs Intervention Programmes are working closely with the ‘ONE’ project, a new 

project launched at HMP Peterborough that aims to engage and support male offenders aged 21 or over, serving a custodial sentence 
of less than 12 months.     

 

P
age 108



Page 27 of 30 

 
 

Section 7:  Glossary 
 
Acceptable Behaviour Contracts – a written agreement by an individual not to carry on with certain acts, which could be construed as anti 
social behaviour.  An ABC is not legally binding, but a breach of an ABC can be cited in proceedings for an ASBO. 
 
Acquisitive crime: comprises theft from a person, robbery and other thefts of personal property. 
 
ASB - Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour Orders: ASBOs are statutory measures that aim to protect the public from behaviour that causes or is likely to cause 
harassment, alarm or distress.  An order contains conditions prohibiting the offender from specific anti-social acts or entering defined areas.  
It is anticipated that under new legislation ASBOs will no longer exist.  
 
Baseline year: the year that the CDRP has chosen as being the year that progress will be compared to.  For the 2009 to 2010 strategy we 
used statistics from April 2008 to March 2009.  For this strategy we will compare crime statistics with April 2009 to March 2010. 
 
British Crime Survey (BCS): The British Crime Survey (BCS) measures the amount of crime in England and Wales by asking people about 
crimes they have experienced in the last year. The BCS includes crimes which are not reported to the police, so it is an important alternative 
to police records. Victims may not report crime for various reasons. Without the BCS the government would have no information on these 
unreported crimes The British Crime Survey (BCS) moved to an annual cycle from 2001/02, with over 50,000 interviews of people aged 16 or 
over now taking place per year. 
 
BCS Comparator Crime: this figure was devised by the Home Office to enable direct comparison to be made between recorded police 
statistics and the British Crime Survey.  Ten types of police recorded crime are included under the banner of BCS Comparator Crime.   
 
CDRP – Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership 
 

P
age 109



Page 28 of 30 

Crime statistics - the statistics used in this strategy have come from a number of sources. 
Generally we have referred to statistics from the most recent available statistics for a full reporting financial year, April 2009 to March 2010.  
Comparisons showing rises and falls in crime have compared the April 2009 – March 2010 statistics with April 2008 to March 2009, which 
was our baseline for our previous strategy.  By comparing these two years it enables a direct comparison to be made between the start of the 
last strategy and this new one. 
 
Criminal Damage – damage to buildings, dwellings, vehicles, industrial areas and recreation grounds.  Figures also include cases of arson. 
 
Deliberate Fires - reckless or careless behaviour where the nature of fire is known to be unpredictable and not easy to control. 
 
Freedom Programme – A programme for women to understand the effects of domestic violence on children, gain self-esteem and provide 
them with the skills to recognise future abusers. 
 
Immobilise - www.immobilise.com  a free nationwide secure database system that allows people to protect property by registering on-line 
any valuables that may be stolen such as mobile phones or laptops. 
 
Integrated Domestic Abuse Programme - a group programme for convicted offenders which focuses on concepts like control and misuse of 
power. Offenders are expected to talk openly about their violence to the group, and listen to others’ experiences – this, along with the 
educational content of the course has been proven to help violent men recognise the impact of their violence, take responsibility for their 
actions and eventually stop their violent behaviour. 
 
Integrated Offender Management – the overarching framework that brings together existing programmes to jointly identify, assess and 
manage those offenders causing the most harm in their local community. 
 
MAPPA – a set of arrangements to manage the risk posed by the most serious sexual and violent offenders (of which there are 700 in the 
county).  The arrangements bring together the Police, Probation, and Prison Services in Cambridgeshire into what is know as the MAPPA 
responsible authority. 
 
MARAC – Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference 

P
age 110



Page 29 of 30 

 
Neighbourhood Panels – a forum where members of the community, police and partner agencies can meet to promote and improve 
community safety.   
 
Neighbourhood Watch – community based crime reduction initiative that brings together communities and resident groups, working closely 
with the police. 
 
Police “Command and Control” Data - This is a dynamic dataset and numbers are accurate at the precise time and date of extraction. It 
includes only the non-crime incidents reported to the police. 
 
Primary Care Trust (PCT) - Primary care is the care provided by people you normally see when you first have a health problem such as a 
doctor, dentist, optician or pharmacist.   
 
Prolific and other priority offender scheme (PPO) - The Home Office estimates 5,000 people are responsible for one in ten offences and 
introduced the Prolific and other priority offenders scheme; there are three parts: 
 

Deter: to stop people (overwhelmingly young people) engaging in offending behaviours and graduating into prolific offending 
 

Catch and Convict: to actively tackle those who are already prolific offenders by fast-tracking them through the criminal justice 
process 

 
Rehabilitate and Resettle: to work with identified prolific offenders to stop their offending by offering a range of supportive 
interventions.  Offenders will be offered the opportunity of rehabilitation or face a very swift return to the courts 

 
Serious Acquisitive Crime – This means crimes where someone takes something that does not belong to them, e.g. burglary from a house, 
theft from a car or theft of a car, robbery of personal property 
 
Strategic Assessment  - A strategic assessment presents and interprets the summary findings of analysis of community safety issues. The 
purpose of the strategic assessment is to assist the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership in revising the partnership plan by identifying 

P
age 111



Page 30 of 30 

issues that are likely to affect the partnership in the coming year and recommends relevant priorities. As set out in the Police and Justice Act 
2006, it is produced annually. 

P
age 112



Agenda Item 10  
 
 
 

CONFIDENCE IN POLICE AND LOCAL COUNCILS TO DEAL WITH ASB 
AND CRIME 
 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 In 2009 a single overarching target was set to improve confidence that 

the police and local councils are dealing with ASB and crime issues 
that matter in their area.  Earlier this year the target was removed by 
the new government.  Currently Cambridgeshire has the lowest level 
of confidence as measured by this indicator in the country.  This report 
seeks the Community Safety Partnerships’ views on the relevance of 
this finding. 

 

 
2. Confidence Targets 

 
2.1 The most recent British Crime Survey found that 44% of respondents 

in Cambridgeshire (including Peterborough) agree that the police and 
local councils are dealing with crime and ASB that matter locally.  This 
figure, which cannot be broken down to give district level figures, is 
the lowest in the country. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 A Cambridgeshire Constabulary telephone survey asking the same 

Agenda Item 9Page 113



question to a random sample of local residents have shown a slight 
improvement over the year increasing from 61% to 62%.   
 

2.3 Another question from the BCS reports on respondents that answer 
good or excellent when asked ‘Taking everything into account, how 
good a job are the police doing in this area’. This indicator has 
improved from 48.9% in December 2008 to 53.6% in June 2010.   

 
 
3. What next 

 
3.1 There are many indicators, which attempt to measure people’s 

perceptions; the varying results from these make interpretation 
difficult.  However a historically key national indicator implies 
confidence in the ability of the police and councils to deal with ASB in 
Cambridgeshire is lower than national and, unlike in other areas, has 
not improved significantly over the last 2 years. 

 
 
4. View of Community Safety Partnership 

 
4.1 The views of the Community Safety Partnership are sought on: 

•    the continued relevance of the single confidence 
indicator and  
•   action that should be taken in view of the current poor position 
nationally. 

 
 
 

Page 114



BIBLIOGRAPHY  
 
Source Document (s) Contact Officer Location 

 
(Please refer to any 
reports used) 

Dr Dorothy Gregson 
Chief Executive 
 
Tel: 01480 425995 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary 
Hinchingbrooke Park, 
Huntingdon, Cambs,  
PE29 6NP.  
 

 
Originating Officer ………………………………………………………….. 
Is it considered that this report contains ‘exempt information’ and should be considered in private?                                                                       
 
If the answer is “YES”, please state the nature of the exempt information and the relevant clause (s) by virtue of Part 1 of 
Revised Schedule 12A  to the Local Government Act 1972. 
Nature of exempt information: ……..e.g. relates to labour relation consultations………. 
Clause No. …….e.g. 4 …………………………………. 
……………………………………………………………………….…………………………………………………………… 
The attached report has been cleared with the undermentioned Officer/s who have assessed the exemption status above 
******** : (delete as appropriate) 
Chief Executive/Treasurer/Chief Constable/Deputy Chief Constable/Assistant Chief Constable 
Others ……………………………………………………………………………… 
Submitted on ………………………………………………………………………. 
 
A report will not be sent to the Authority unless this box has been satisfactorily completed and all necessary consultation 
carried out - the responsibility for which rests with the originator (except for consultation with the Chairman and this will be 
undertaken by the Chief Executive). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



Page 116

This page is left blank intentionally.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Review of Integrated Offender Management
	5 Note Q3 Performance Report, and identify necessary actions
	6 Update on 2010-11 Funding
	Agenda Item 7b - CDRP Board budgets 2010-11

	8 Agree South Cambs CDRP Community Safety Plan 2011-2014
	Agenda Item 9b - South Cambs CDRP Rolling Plan 2011-12

	9 Confidence in Police and Local Councils

